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          2                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: The meeting of

          3  the Committee on Small Business, and we're joined

          4  today by my very distinguished colleague, Jim

          5  Gennaro, who is the author of two of the bills

          6  before us this morning.

          7                 These three bills here address I

          8  guess two issues. The first, and I know Council

          9  Member Gennaro, I know will address this in more

         10  detail, but the bills that he is introducing I

         11  think, or has introduced, I think are very important

         12  and take a big step toward bringing some fairer

         13  procedures to our administrative process here in the

         14  City.

         15                 The federal government, of course,

         16  has an administrative procedure act, so that when

         17  the government issues a citation, in effect it

         18  accuses someone of violating the law and propose a

         19  penalty, there are procedures that guarantee a fair

         20  hearing on that. And I think that the City should,

         21  if not mimic that, should do something similar. And,

         22  so, I'm delighted that we're hearing Council Member

         23  Gennaro's bill here today.

         24                 We're also hearing a bill that would

         25  repeal a variety of provisions in the Administrative
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          2  Code that seem on first blush, and purposes of the

          3  hearing is to see if there's more to it than meets

          4  the eye, but seemed at least at first blush to be

          5  necessary. And I think this is a really important

          6  thing for the government to do from time to time is

          7  look at the rules and laws that are on the books and

          8  see if they're still necessary, or if in fact they

          9  are just simply impediments to business people just

         10  trying to operate, trying to serve their customers.

         11                 I make no bones about it, I am a big

         12  government, liberal democrat. I love to see the

         13  government get in there and solve problems. But I

         14  also recognize that very often something that was a

         15  problem in 1950 is no longer a problem in 2006, even

         16  if something was a problem in 1990 may be a problem

         17  in 2006. And so it's time, it's not just -- it's

         18  important that from time to time we go back and we

         19  look and see, do you really need these things, and

         20  are they causing more problems out in the world than

         21  they are solving. And I think that some of the

         22  provisions that we're taking a look at today, just

         23  for example, there's one that prohibits store owners

         24  from using a hose to clean off their sidewalk, which

         25  I think is routinely violated, just based on my
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          2  walking around the City and seeing store owners hose

          3  off their sidewalks, and something we absolutely

          4  want them to be doing.

          5                 In fact, we actually require them to

          6  keep their sidewalks clean and the hose seems to me

          7  a lot better way to do it than having them get down

          8  on their hands and knees with a sponge.

          9                 So, provisions like that, and

         10  particularly things that are restrictions on small

         11  business, it's hard enough to operate a business in

         12  New York City, and it's hard enough to help that

         13  business grow and serve its customers and employ

         14  people, without the government getting in the way.

         15                 I would like to see the government do

         16  more to help, particularly in areas like health

         17  care. But at the very least the government has got

         18  to get out of the way and let people do their jobs.

         19                 So, I look forward to this hearing.

         20  Council Member Gennaro, if you are willing, would

         21  you please make a statement at this time?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Thank you.

         23  Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank you for your

         24  leadership on your bill, in bringing that forward.

         25  It's a very, very important bill and I thank you for
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          2  your leadership on that.

          3                 Thank you, also, for bringing my

          4  bills for a hearing here today, and you greatly

          5  appreciate it, and what you said in your statement

          6  about fairness, that's all we're trying to do here

          7  with these bills, and you, Mr. Chairman, have been a

          8  champion of fairness and having government be, yes,

          9  big and getting into a lot of things, but being

         10  fair. And I think that's the best thing that

         11  government can be in all three bills here seek that

         12  same end.

         13                 As the Chairman said, I'm Councilman

         14  Jim Gennaro, I'm a prime sponsor of Intro 64-A and

         15  66-A, the legislation that's related to the ECB. As

         16  I said, I'm pleased to be taking a part in this

         17  hearing with Chairman Yassky and the staff of the

         18  Committee, who is doing so much great work on this,

         19  as well, I thank them.

         20                 Since it was created in 1971, the ECB

         21  was a tribunal of the Department of Environmental

         22  Protection, created to adjudicate violations of air

         23  and noise pollution regulations. We're doing this

         24  without reading glasses today, a little difficult.

         25  Broken glasses syndrome here, okay? Thank you just
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          2  the same. David is from the government and he wants

          3  to help.

          4                 Today, the ECB's jurisdiction ranges

          5  from environmental pollution to sanitation and

          6  recycling, to landmarks, building codes, fire

          7  prevention, and street peddling. The ECB currently

          8  adjudicates fines from 11 different agencies of New

          9  York City government.

         10                 Last fiscal year several hundred

         11  thousand ECB notices of violations were issued by

         12  the Board, were issued, and the Board rendered well

         13  over 100,000 -- wow, 100,000 decisions on

         14  violations.

         15                 As the reaching caseload, the ECB has

         16  greatly expanded over the years, so has the critical

         17  importance of making sure that the Board provides

         18  fair treatment, and also gives due process for City

         19  residents and businesses that appear before it, and

         20  this is the goal of the two pieces of the

         21  legislation before us today, of the 66 and 64-A.

         22                 64-A is intended to make sure that

         23  the ECB cannot establish a minimum penalty for a

         24  violation that is higher than the minimum penalty

         25  set by the Council, and we think that this is
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          2  critically important that we right this wrong.

          3                 This bill is necessary because it has

          4  become common practice for the ECB to actively

          5  manipulate and dictate the amounts of penalties that

          6  it was allowing its hearing officers to impose is

          7  wrong.

          8                 Sometimes penalty amounts have been

          9  in excess of the minimum penalties set forth in

         10  statute or set at the maximum limit of the range.

         11  This unilateral and impermissible administrative

         12  action undertaken by the ECB effectively strips its

         13  hearing officers of their independent ability to

         14  impose civil penalties within the lawful penalty

         15  range on a case-by-case basis through exercise of

         16  individual discretion.

         17                 This, in turn, has had the effect of

         18  harming the small businesses that appear before the

         19  ECB to contest violations by effectively disallowing

         20  any hearing officer any discretion granted by

         21  statute to impose the lawful minimum civil penalty,

         22  which is below the minimum penalty required by the

         23  ECB. I believe that ECB's current practice with

         24  regard to minimum penalties has a detrimental effect

         25  on the local business community in New York City by
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          2  forcing defendants to pay higher minimum civil

          3  penalties and thereby hurting their business bottom

          4  lines.

          5                 I also believe this practice

          6  represents a troubling and impermissible impingement

          7  by the Executive Branch of government into the

          8  functions of the Council and Intro. 64 will speak to

          9  both of those items.

         10                 Intro 66-A, the second bill, is

         11  intended to remedy many of the deficiencies

         12  incumbent in procedures and also the adjudications

         13  of the ECB and foster greater fairness, better due

         14  process, and more expeditious and accurate

         15  decisions.

         16                 For example, this legislation

         17  replaces so-called hearing officers with qualified

         18  and objective administrative law judges, which will

         19  address the real or perceived notion that hearing

         20  officers are not independent of the ECB.

         21                 This legislation also addresses

         22  persistent charges of lack of due process and

         23  fairness for the ECB by, among other things, making

         24  sure that respondents are better informed as to

         25  their pre-hearing rights and have reliable access to
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          2  people who can interpret if they have language

          3  problems.

          4                 I believe that through these and

          5  other elements of Intro. 66-A, this legislation will

          6  change the adjudicatory environment surrounding the

          7  ECB from one that is currently sometimes lacking in

          8  respect, and confidence, from those who regularly

          9  appear before it to one whose respondents will be

         10  assured that their rights will be upheld and their

         11  issues resolved in an objective and professional

         12  manner.

         13                 Taken together, I believe Intro. 64-A

         14  and 66-A substantially and effectively reform the

         15  ECB, and in so doing, this legislation will make a

         16  greater contribution through sustaining and growing

         17  business, particularly small business in New York

         18  City.

         19                 And once again, I begin as I started,

         20  by thanking Chairman David Yassky for holding

         21  today's hearing, he's a real champion of small

         22  business, and I look forward to this hearing and all

         23  of the witnesses who are so graciously

         24  participating.

         25                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Well, thank you.

          3                 So, let me just outline how we're

          4  going to proceed where we have the Department of

          5  Consumer Affairs who is testifying first, and

          6  they're testifying on Intro. 349. And I understand

          7  that you have another commitment later this morning,

          8  so we will do our best to have that be expeditious,

          9  and then we're going to hear from folks from the ECB

         10  regarding Intro. 64 and 66. And then we will hear

         11  from some of the private sector representatives.

         12                 And let me say, on all of these

         13  bills, it's my intention to move them through the

         14  Committee soon. You know, I don't know if that's a

         15  matter of weeks or the next few months, but as soon

         16  as we can. So, I would like this hearing to be

         17  genuine, not just an exercise in investigating the

         18  topic. I intend to act on these, so I hope we can

         19  engage and have a productive discussion.

         20                 Thank you, Commissioner Toole. Please

         21  proceed.

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: All of

         23  the microphones at different places work

         24  differently, so hopefully this is now on.

         25                 Thank you, and thank you for allowing
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          2  us to testify first. For some reason every event

          3  that we deal with is up today, and so it's crazy.

          4                 But good morning, Mr. Chair, and

          5  members of the Committee. I am Pauline Toole,

          6  Assistant Commissioner at the Department of Consumer

          7  Affairs. We thank you for the opportunity to offer

          8  comments on Intro. 349-A, which will amend several

          9  local laws, including some sections of the

         10  Administrative Code enforced by the Department.

         11                 Sections 1 through 4 of the proposal

         12  would amend sections of the Department of Health and

         13  Mental Hygiene law. We are not offering comments on

         14  those sections, but the City will be delighted to

         15  engage in a discussion of them with you at a later

         16  point.

         17                 Similarly, Section 14 amends the law

         18  administered by the Department of Environmental

         19  Protection, and DCA will not be commenting on that

         20  either.

         21                 But the bulk of the changes deal with

         22  the law administered by our department and we have

         23  lots of comments about that.

         24                 So, first, Section 5 of the proposed

         25  law, changes to lower case, the verbs prohibiting
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          2  activities in billiard parlors, and more

          3  importantly, changes the permissible age of entry

          4  into a billiard parlor from 16 years to 14 years. It

          5  deletes the requirement that a child has to be

          6  accompanied by an adult, parent or guardian, and

          7  substitutes the requirement that the child must be

          8  accompanied by a person who is 18 years or older.

          9                 This may increase the number of young

         10  people spending time in billiard parlors without

         11  their parent or guardians. The DCA does not believe

         12  this presents a problem.

         13                 However, we would note again that

         14  Local Law 59 of 2005 prohibits the entry of minors

         15  into internet cafes during the hours of instruction

         16  during the school year, unless accompanied by a

         17  parent or guardian, and we wonder if it would be

         18  sensible to conform the two laws governing young

         19  people playing games in licensed facilities. So,

         20  you're using the same definition of minors and that

         21  there is not some -- two different standards of who

         22  can play games at different times. We would

         23  recommend that to the Council.

         24                 Section 6 requires the recitation of

         25  sidewalk cafe boundaries and the licensed document
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          2  and the listing of the number of tables permitted

          3  and outlaw specifications of the configuration of

          4  tables at cafes.

          5                 As we observed last year, the

          6  Department believes a requirement for a license to

          7  recite the boundaries of the sidewalk cafe is not

          8  meaningful for community residents, for restaurant

          9  owners, or for enforcement agents.

         10                 It also presents a technical problem

         11  to include meets and bounds on a licensed document,

         12  and the proposal we think corrects a problem that

         13  doesn't exist.

         14                 Sidewalk cafes apply for permission

         15  to place a set number of tables and chairs within

         16  the boundaries of the cafe.

         17                 They pay for the privilege of using a

         18  defined amount of sidewalk space with the consent

         19  fee. Cafes are required to display a complaint sign

         20  in addition to the license. The complaint sign lists

         21  the number of tables and chairs that have been

         22  authorized. Cafes do appropriately receive

         23  violations for having excess tables and chairs,

         24  which would indicate that the operation has expanded

         25  beyond the size authorized by the Council.
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          2                 It would be highly unusual for the

          3  DCA to issue a violation based on an impermissible

          4  table configuration, moving two tables together, for

          5  example, because inspectors do not have that

          6  information in the field.

          7                 We would, however, issue a violation

          8  when the cafe operator places more than the approved

          9  number of tables and chairs in the cafe, and we

         10  believe this proposal does not address an existing

         11  situation and it's unnecessary.

         12                 In part because Section 20-224(b) of

         13  the current law provides that the cafe operator

         14  shall cause the boundary of the area licensed as a

         15  sidewalk cafe to be marked in a manner prescribed by

         16  rules. This marking of the boundaries makes clear to

         17  all comers the amount of sidewalk space that the

         18  restaurant is permitted to use.

         19                 Last year we had a pilot program to

         20  begin to implement the law. We learned a lot from

         21  that, as did the restaurant association and

         22  restaurant owners and building on that pilot program

         23  which was in 13 different community districts, we're

         24  working with the restaurant industry and restaurant

         25  owners to mark the boundaries of approximately 250
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          2  cafes that have passed their prequalification

          3  inspections.

          4                 We believe that the full

          5  implementation of this program over the next few

          6  years will demonstrate to the community the

          7  boundaries of the cafe, and then it even sort of

          8  makes this meets and bounds more unnecessary,

          9  because no one knows really what that means on a

         10  document.

         11                 Section 7 would make it easier for

         12  tour guides to become licensed by eliminating the

         13  requirement that applicants for the tour guide

         14  license submit recommendations from three New

         15  Yorkers, and present a certificate that the

         16  applicant is not suffering from a disease or

         17  infirmity that would render him or her unfit as a

         18  guide.

         19                 The DCA agrees that these

         20  requirements are unnecessary. We would recommend

         21  also eliminating the requirement that an

         22  investigation into the tour guide's character and

         23  fitness be conducted by the Commissioner.

         24                 Section 8 updates the second-hand

         25  dealer law to repeal a prohibition on licensed
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          2  secondhand dealers dealing in the purchase or sale

          3  of junk, old rope, old iron, brass copper, tin,

          4  lead, rubber, paper, rags, baggings slush or empty

          5  bottles and from using a boat, cart or other vehicle

          6  to collect those items, as well as eliminating the

          7  prohibition on purchasing items from apprentices and

          8  servants.

          9                 The Department agrees these sections

         10  are archaic and should be repealed.

         11                 Section Eight also expands the hours

         12  when a secondhand dealer can purchase items from

         13  6:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. to 12:00 midnight and 6:00

         14  a.m. We have not heard difficulties imposed by the

         15  current time limits and do not have a view on that

         16  section.

         17                 Section 9 repeals the requirement

         18  that certain auctioneers obtain a night auction

         19  license, and the Department agrees with this

         20  proposal.

         21                 Section 10 eliminates the statutory

         22  requirement that laundries remain closed all day on

         23  Sunday and between the hours of 12:00 and 6:00 on

         24  other days. 12:00 a.m. and 6:00 a.m. on other days.

         25                 The prohibition on Sunday operations
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          2  was found to be invalid in 1963, and thus is not

          3  enforced by the Department, although the language

          4  remains in the law.

          5                 The DCA agrees that cleaning up the

          6  law to reflect the status make sense as does

          7  eliminating the requirement that laundries be closed

          8  from night to 6:00 a.m.

          9                 We have some suggestions about the

         10  drafting of this provisions to specifically provide

         11  for laundries that operate 24/7, since as drafted,

         12  the security provision covers laundries open until

         13  closing and not laundries that never closed.

         14                 We also reiterate a suggestion made

         15  last year that the clean-up address several other

         16  archaic sections of the same licensing law, such as

         17  the exemption for persons doing custom laundry work

         18  at home, the bond schedule and the specialized

         19  application review, and we stand ready to work with

         20  your staff on that.

         21                 After consultation with the Police

         22  Department, however, on the safety implications,

         23  substituting a video camera for an attendant at

         24  laundries, we think it presents more problems than

         25  it would solve.
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          2                 If a laundry is going to be open at

          3  night, we think it should continue to have an

          4  attendant present. Actively monitoring a premise is

          5  far better than relying on a video surveillance

          6  camera, especially where people are engaged in doing

          7  laundry and may be distracted, not observing who

          8  comes and goes.

          9                 Cameras give a false sense of

         10  security, a patron's behavior might change if they

         11  think the camera protects them. They let their guard

         12  down and therefore maybe become more vulnerable. And

         13  there's nothing saying you can't have both, but we

         14  would support the ongoing presence of a person.

         15                 Section 11 requires public dance

         16  halls, cabarets, catering establishments to provide

         17  a clearly-printed menu, itemizing prices charged for

         18  food and drink before the guest is served, or have

         19  an observable posted menu.

         20                 The DCA supports generally full

         21  disclosure of prices prior to purchase. There hasn't

         22  been a waive of complaints from dance hall patrons

         23  who didn't receive a price list before ordering

         24  beverages.

         25                 It's not clear that this is
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          2  necessary, but we don't have an objection. In any

          3  case, however, we think catering halls should be

          4  eliminated from the requirement, because their

          5  business is structured differently.

          6                 Generally catering halls establish a

          7  contract with the person sponsoring the event, so

          8  requiring the presentation of a price list to guess

          9  at an event is neither desirable nor necessary.

         10                 Section 12 would eliminate the

         11  requirement that the general vendor license should

         12  be conspicuously worn by the vendor.

         13                 DCA opposes this change because it

         14  creates an obstacle to enforcement against

         15  unlicensed vendors.

         16                 Section 13 would require the

         17  Department to prepare a color coded map identifying

         18  the boundaries of areas where general vending is

         19  permitted and where it is not permitted. And while

         20  mapping seems a nice easy suggestion, it would not

         21  be feasible.

         22                 The existing law restricting vending

         23  is lengthy and complicated. Some streets are

         24  restricted to vending during the day and not the

         25  evening, during the week, but not the weekend,
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          2  disabled veterans with a certain type of license and

          3  not to others.

          4                 Rather than providing clarity, a map

          5  will illustrate the complexity.  Because it would be

          6  an exercise in futility, at this point we do not

          7  support the proposal.

          8                 I thank you for the opportunity to

          9  comment, and if you have questions, we will try to

         10  answer them.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you very

         12  much.

         13                 Okay, just a few questions. Just so

         14  I'm clear, on the billiard parlors, you are not

         15  raising an objection to eliminating the

         16  requirements, yes?

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: No, we

         18  don't object to that. For ease of enforcement, if

         19  there's a problem having people of a certain age in

         20  these establishments, we think it ought to be

         21  consistent, so we would just suggest --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Well, for what

         23  it's worth, I mean, it strikes me that the internet

         24  cafes might be the 2006 equivalent of whatever it

         25  was of the billiard parlors of whoever wrote this in
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          2  the first place were worried about. And I mean,

          3  there was that article in the times over the summer

          4  about kids who get lured into basically selling

          5  pornographic pictures of themselves over the

          6  internet for, I don't know if you saw that article,

          7  it was quite shocking; did you see it?

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: I did

          9  not see it. But I would say, Mr. Chair, that that

         10  behavior would be prohibited under laws that have

         11  nothing to do with whether or not you could let

         12  minors into arcades, internet cafes and billiard

         13  parlors. So, I mean, I think that's a different set

         14  of --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I think we do

         16  have an interest in having not in trying to keep

         17  unaccompanied minors from cutting school to go to an

         18  internet cafe. That's a real issue today and with

         19  the billiard hall it's not so much. And all this --

         20  that would be my suggestion, yes.

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: We have

         22  not reviewed who is in billiard parlors and the

         23  times that they're in billiard parlors.

         24                 Admittedly this licensed law dates

         25  from the last century, maybe even two centuries,

                                                            23

          1  COMMITTEE ON SMALL BUSINESS

          2  maybe even the 19th century, as so many of our laws

          3  do. So, while we don't think that there is a problem

          4  with 14 year olds being in billiard parlors, we're

          5  not certain that there is a problem with the --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Internet cafes.

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: With

          8  14-year-olds being in internet cafes. We're just

          9  suggesting that the definition ought to be similar,

         10  if not the same, because it might be the same

         11  problem that's being addressed, you know, kids

         12  playing hooky, unsafe environment. So, without

         13  having any sort of empirical studies, we were

         14  thinking that makes sense, but, you know, it's a

         15  suggestion. We're not, you know, going to oppose the

         16  change, if you don't follow our suggestion, but we

         17  do think it's well worth looking into.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I understand.

         19                 On the sidewalk cafes, the problem as

         20  described to me, and perhaps we'll hear more about

         21  it from the folks who testify after you, was that

         22  it's now possible to get a violation, and people

         23  have gotten violations when their permit was for one

         24  four-person table and it was replaced by two

         25  two-person tables, for example. And is that correct?
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          2  And if so, do you agree that that's something that

          3  we want to prohibit?

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: It

          5  could happen. The way the law is written, the way

          6  the law works, a restaurant owner comes into the

          7  Department and with a set of plans, and the set of

          8  plans use every available inch to accommodate

          9  patrons by -- and the plans show how many tables and

         10  how many chairs there will be at a restaurant, at a

         11  cafe. The Department uses those plans to inspect the

         12  sidewalk clearances and the wait service aisle in

         13  order to make sure that the plans comply with the

         14  City's law. Then we suggest to the Council we move

         15  it along and the Council gives consent for a cafe of

         16  a certain size, including the numbers of tables and

         17  chairs.

         18                 So, that is all specified, and what

         19  our inspectors do is look at the sign that's posted

         20  in the cafe, and it will say, for argument's sake,

         21  ten tables and 20 chairs, because those are the

         22  number of chairs and tables that fit into the

         23  boundaries. If the place could accommodate more

         24  tables and chairs, the restaurant owner generally

         25  would go to the higher number because they can serve
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          2  more patrons that way.

          3                 So, simply speaking, the inspectors

          4  count the tables and chairs. If there is more tables

          5  and chairs --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: No, I get it.

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: I want

          8  to be clear. But it would be very unusual, very

          9  unusual, and I think the restaurant industry would

         10  agree with this, that the Department would issue a

         11  violation for a restaurant that moved two tables

         12  together in order to accommodate a larger party, and

         13  that's how we think of configurations, sort of

         14  mixing and matching the tables that you're approved

         15  to have in the location they're approved to be in.

         16                 We wouldn't be looking at that,

         17  because our inspectors don't have the plans in the

         18  field.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Well, indeed, no.

         20  Moving two tables together wouldn't be an issue.

         21  What would be an issue is, if your license for,

         22  wouldn't be ten tables, 20 chairs, but let's say

         23  five tables, 20 chairs, for five four-person tables,

         24  and then you wind up with, you know, seven tables,

         25  20 chairs, because some of those four persons become
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          2  two-person tables. And, again, it's what we were

          3  told, and I think we're going to have some

          4  testimony, is that people do get tickets for that.

          5  That strikes me as not something we have an interest

          6  in.

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:

          8  Generally speaking, the Department would not issue

          9  those tickets. And, you know, that's my

         10  understanding. And I believe --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: But should the

         12  issue be the number of chairs, and the number of

         13  tables is kind of irrelevant?

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Well,

         15  the two go together.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Not necessarily.

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Well,

         18  at the moment under the law, the two go together,

         19  because you could have an unlimited number of

         20  chairs, but without the table there is nothing to

         21  serve them on, and they go together because it

         22  signifies how many people will be eating at the

         23  cafe. And when you begin to add more tables, you

         24  shift the dynamic of the boundaries, and that

         25  presents a problem for communities that have agreed
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          2  to a certain sized cafe, and for the Council that is

          3  granted a consent for a certain sized cafe.

          4                 I think that this was a fear of

          5  restaurant owners as opposed to a real problem, and,

          6  you know, I think that the growing number of

          7  sidewalk cafes shows the ease of getting licensed,

          8  and sort of the Department's support for them as an

          9  amenity in the City.

         10                 So, I would be -- we don't have many

         11  of these violations, and if we do, it's because the

         12  inspector went out with the plan, based on a

         13  community person's complaint that the cafe had

         14  expanded beyond its boundaries and we look and

         15  compare the plan to the seating and if there's a

         16  difference, we give a violation. But that happens

         17  very rarely.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay. Well, do we

         19  agree, I think we might, that there's an empirical

         20  question as to whether or not folks do frequently

         21  get tickets, or not rarely get tickets for having

         22  too many tables for the same number of chairs, and

         23  do we agree that if in fact people do get a lot of

         24  tickets for that, then we would want to correct

         25  that? Or we don't agree with that? Do you see what
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          2  I'm asking?

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Well, I

          4  understand your question. I don't know if we agree

          5  with that or not. Because (a) I don't think it

          6  happens, which we can figure out. But (b) the size

          7  of the cafe that is approved, it's the rental of the

          8  public sidewalk and it accommodates pedestrians and

          9  the service aisle, restaurant owners, as far as I

         10  understand, will put in the largest number of tables

         11  and chairs they can that will fit in the space. So,

         12  if you begin to add tables, you begin to expand the

         13  space that they are going to be utilizing.

         14                 So, if you add, you know, if each

         15  chair has a table, that would be a problem, because

         16  it's going to take up more space than is permitted.

         17  And the Department's general view is, particularly

         18  with the boundaries marked, if the tables and chairs

         19  fit into the space, that's been approved and

         20  accommodates the three foot service aisle, that's

         21  what we support.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay. Well, I

         23  think maybe we'll have to leave it and we'll see if

         24  there is, you know, if the record shows that there

         25  are in fact, you know, a non-trivial number of
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          2  instances where people get tickets for that, for

          3  replacing one four-person table with two two-person

          4  tables, then we'll have to come back to you with a

          5  discussion about whether or not you agree that it's

          6  a problem.

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: If

          8  that's the problem that the bill is going to

          9  address, the bill, as written, says it shouldn't

         10  specify the configuration of tables but it doesn't

         11  address sort of the number or tables.

         12                 I would be happy to work with you and

         13  with the industry on this. We think we found a good

         14  balance, and, you know, if we haven't, we'd be happy

         15  to work on it.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okie-dokie.

         17                 On the second-hand dealer, I see you

         18  agree that you were getting rid of some of the, as

         19  you say, archaic restrictions on second-hand

         20  dealers, and then there are provisions about hours

         21  when second-hand dealers operate now. They can't

         22  operate after 6:00 p.m., and I guess the bill as

         23  written proposes that they be prohibited from

         24  operating from midnight to 6:00 a.m. They're not

         25  currently prohibited from operating between 6:00

                                                            30

          1  COMMITTEE ON SMALL BUSINESS

          2  p.m. and 7:00 a.m. In other words, after closing at

          3  6:00 and can't open before 7:00.

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: No,

          5  you're prohibited from purchasing items. And the

          6  intent, which, you know, once again is from --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I got you.

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: From a

          9  different century. And sort of a big reason for the

         10  second-hand dealers --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: This is

         12  second-hand dealer as fence?

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I've seen the

         15  movie.

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Good.

         17  And they impose this time for buying. We don't have

         18  an objection to changing the time so you can't buy

         19  things between midnight and 6:00 a.m.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Is there a reason

         21  for any time? I mean, is there a reason for any time

         22  limit?

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: I don't

         24  know. It would be a good question.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Because just in
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          2  looking at it -- yes, here is my question: Why are

          3  they licensed? And I'll tell you why. A constituent,

          4  a store in my district that is a furniture store on

          5  Atlantic Avenue, I know you are a Brooklynite, there

          6  are a lot of really, you know, nice furniture stores

          7  all down Atlantic Avenue that sells mostly new

          8  furniture. And this is a guy that started the

          9  business there five, six years ago, it's been

         10  relatively successful, still there at least, thank

         11  goodness. And sells mostly new furniture, but has

         12  some what he calls antiques, vases and decorative

         13  objects, stuff like that. Apparently the Department

         14  issued him a citation for selling used goods without

         15  a license, that he was able to get dismissed, only

         16  by going down and spending a day, at, you know, the

         17  municipal building. You know, and this is a sole

         18  proprietor who is running his own business. That

         19  story saddened me, and I was wondering, why do we

         20  even have a license in the first place?

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: We have

         22  the license for two reasons. One is the sort of

         23  concern that second-hand dealers will operate as

         24  pawn shops and sets a licensing requirement, and

         25  maintains, requires that they maintain books that
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          2  show how they get items and where they come from.

          3                 And then the second reason is to

          4  assure that there is some disclosure of the

          5  secondhand nature of goods, which perhaps appears

          6  self-evident in lots of instances, but not always.

          7  So, the licensing law gives people some assurance

          8  that they know they're getting a secondhand item.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I'm sorry. That

         10  second part, could you explain that? How do people

         11  get --

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Because

         13  the law requires that things be labeled as, you

         14  know, secondhand, and that's part of the reason that

         15  the law exists.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And what's the

         17  license fee, do you know?

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: I don't

         19  know what it is, but it's minimal. It covers the

         20  cost of administering the license. The City doesn't

         21  make money from its licensed fee structure. It can

         22  only cover the cost of issuing the license and the

         23  fee was set many years ago, so, you know, it's I

         24  would say probably under $200, but I can't tell you

         25  an exact figure.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And were they

          3  required to keep, as you say, records of their

          4  purchases -- do you know how many licensees there

          5  are?

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:

          7  Several. More than a thousand and fewer than five.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Does the City

          9  inspect their books and records?

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: From

         11  time to time, yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: How many

         13  inspectors do that? Or how many person days -- is it

         14  one, do you know?

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: I don't

         16  know. But the way our inspectors work, they're

         17  assigned to squads and the squads are cross-trained,

         18  so they go in and they don't specialize in one area

         19  of the license law, but by and large, although we

         20  have a gas squad that does, because of the

         21  particulars of that weights and measures law. But by

         22  and large, the inspectors will go into any number of

         23  stores and look for the license, the pricing, et

         24  cetera. And then the Police Department also uses as

         25  a way of ensuring that, you know, stolen goods
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          2  aren't being sold.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And the Police

          4  Department does that by -- they don't do that by

          5  routinely inspecting books and records. You're

          6  saying if they have some reason to believe that

          7  stolen goods are being sold to some particular

          8  secondhand place, that then they'll go in and make

          9  an inspection?

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: You know, I guess

         12  I'd like you to think more about, and between now

         13  and when we act on this, whether you think this is

         14  justified at all. I mean, it strikes me as something

         15  that must cause a fair amount if people comply with

         16  it, and they do things that they wouldn't otherwise

         17  do, it seems like a fair amount of expense that

         18  we're causing to businesses, and I don't know what

         19  the real payoff is to that.

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Andy

         21  has a comment.

         22                 MR. EILER: Hello. I'm Andrew Eiler,

         23  Director of Legislation. One of the aspects of the

         24  secondhand dealer law is the issue of disclosure of

         25  quality characteristics to the goods and consumer
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          2  protection, and by the business being licensed gives

          3  the Department hearing authority and an ability to

          4  go in there and correct the consumer issues of

          5  secondhand dealer goods, which is where these kind

          6  of things arise most frequently with respect to

          7  deceptive practices, with respect to selling bad

          8  quality goods and so forth and so on. So, there's a

          9  big consumer protection component to the license.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: What's the bad

         11  quality goods? How does that work?

         12                 MR. EILER: Used goods are certainly,

         13  cannot be expected to be as up to quality, the

         14  standards, the conditions, usefulness, as they are

         15  with respect to brand new goods. So, number one,

         16  that people should be able to know that they're

         17  dealing with used goods and that automatically sends

         18  up warning flags.

         19                 Then the second thing is, you know,

         20  that people should be clearly told, and there are

         21  warranty issues and disclosure issues, in terms of

         22  the quality of the goods people get, getting

         23  receipts and so forth and so on, that all triggered

         24  by the Consumer Protection law, that gives us a lot

         25  of ability to deal with consumer complaints that
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          2  arise in this area from a wide range of businesses.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: So, how does the

          4  license help there, though? In other words, why is

          5  that different from just having a requirement that

          6  all secondhand goods be labeled as such?

          7                 MR. EILER: Because we have hearing

          8  authority that would enable us to hold a hearing to

          9  determine violations, and recover damages on behalf

         10  of consumers and so forth and so on, which the

         11  hearing authority confers on a department. So, we

         12  have enforcement tools that apply in these

         13  situations that would not apply without the license.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Do you need a

         15  license for that?

         16                 MR. EILER: Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: What about the

         18  false advertising, when non-secondhand goods

         19  retailers, you know, when you do those enforcements

         20  saying, looking at whether things advertised for

         21  sale are stocked, you know, insufficient goods, it's

         22  not a kind of bait-n-switch, is that the licensure

         23  authority that lets you do that? Or that's just a

         24  consumer protection law?

         25                 MR. EILER: The way the authority of
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          2  the Department is, is that we can have hearing

          3  authority right now only with respect to licensees

          4  and some other laws where it specifically be

          5  conferred on the Department, and --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: What are the

          7  other laws they would specifically confer?

          8                 MR. EILER: Well, like you have

          9  weights and measures. There's a number of laws that

         10  were passed last couple of years, like the scooters,

         11  the applicators, the environmental pesticides --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Why couldn't you

         13  do that here with the labeling of used goods? If

         14  that's the thing that you're trying to get at --

         15                 MR. EILER: Because the authority of

         16  the Department --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Rather than have

         18  just like businesses go through all the paperwork of

         19  filing a license and paying for it, and you have to

         20  maintain records of all the 3,000 licensees.

         21                 MR. EILER: The Department's authority

         22  is triggered for having hearings to adjudicate

         23  violations of statutes. With respect to licensing we

         24  have that, and with respect to licensees, we can

         25  also adjudicate through hearing, through our hearing
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          2  tribunal, all violations of laws that a business is

          3  required to comply with.

          4                 In the absence of a license, we do

          5  not now have that authority.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I'm sorry, just

          7  bear with me for just one second, and we'll move on

          8  because I want to get to the administrative

          9  procedure of the legislation, but what you're saying

         10  is, if you have somebody selling used goods and

         11  they're not labeled as such, that you don't go in

         12  and issue a citation for selling, you know,

         13  improperly labeled goods, or not selling used goods

         14  without informing the consumer, rather you want to

         15  go after them for not having a license.

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: No,

         17  that's not what we're saying. What we're saying is

         18  that the secondhand dealer law serves a multiplicity

         19  of purposes, one of them is to ensure that stolen

         20  goods aren't being filtered through secondhand

         21  stores by being able to inspect the records that the

         22  store has maintained.

         23                 Another power we have, because of the

         24  licensing law, is the ability to hold hearings on

         25  violations that we would give for not marking the
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          2  goods clearly, and not giving receipts. The reason

          3  we can adjudicate those violations is because

          4  they're licensees and they're compelled to go before

          5  the Administrative Tribunal.

          6                 In most of the sections of the city's

          7  consumer protection law, when stores are issued

          8  violations, the Department cannot compel them to

          9  come to a hearing to settle the violation. To the

         10  credit of businesses, close to 65 percent of them do

         11  come in and settle their violations, and in those

         12  instances that are particularly egregious, we take

         13  the cases to State Court, which is time consuming

         14  and expensive, and you can't do for every little

         15  violation because somebody neglected to mark

         16  something appropriately in one little store, and nor

         17  would you want to.

         18                 So, at the moment the licensing law

         19  serves a variety of purposes. Hearing authority is a

         20  different topic that the Council is considering, but

         21  it is one of the reasons, it's one of the tools we

         22  use to ensure that licensees are complying with all

         23  of the sections of the law that the Department

         24  administers.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I don't want to
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          2  waste the audience's time or my colleagues' time, or

          3  take up their time, but I would like to pursue this

          4  with you, because it's not clear to me why you can't

          5  -- can you compel somebody to come in for a hearing

          6  for a violation of operating without a license?

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: So, why can't you

          9  compel them to come in for a hearing on, you know,

         10  failure to mark goods properly?

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: It's a

         12  longer discussion. But because of the way the law is

         13  structured --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: If the law could

         15  be rewritten to give you that?

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: And

         17  indeed, Mr. Chair, we would urge that the Council do

         18  that, but it's not the subject of today's hearing,

         19  and we should move on.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Let's do it.

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: But

         22  obviously it's something the Department would like.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay, good. That

         24  sounds like maybe we can make some progress.

         25                 Last question is just on the Section
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          2  11 and the issue of itemized pricing for goods and

          3  restaurants.

          4                 Again, I am told --

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Not

          6  restaurants. Cabarets, dance halls and catering

          7  establishments.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Is there a

          9  requirement that restaurants give people a menu

         10  ahead of time? Not that you enforce?

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: No.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay.

         13                 Thank you. Does anybody else have any

         14  questions?

         15                 Thank you very much.

         16                 Now we're going to have the witnesses

         17  from ECB, please.

         18                 Please, go ahead.

         19                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Good morning, Chair

         20  Yassky and members of the Council. I am Richard

         21  Friedman, Executive Director of the New York City

         22  Environmental Control Board.

         23                 With me is Michael Moran, Deputy

         24  Director of ECB.

         25                 Thank you for the opportunity to
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          2  discuss ECB, its operations and how they would be

          3  affected by two of the pieces of legislation on

          4  today's agenda, Intro. 64-A and Intro. 66-A.

          5                 As a basis for explaining how the

          6  legislation affects ECB, I need to set the stage

          7  with a few pertinent background facts about ECB.

          8                 ECB was created almost 35 years ago

          9  and it's charged with adjudicating violations of

         10  laws and rules brought before it by the various City

         11  agencies empowered to oversee and maintain quality

         12  of life in the City.

         13                 ECB's jurisdiction includes

         14  sanitation and vendor violations, air, asbestos,

         15  water and noise violations, as well as violations of

         16  the Building and Fire Codes. In total a dozen

         17  agencies issue notices of violations returnable to

         18  ECB. In Fiscal Year '05, for example, those dozen

         19  agencies issued 578,000 violations. Approximately

         20  180,000 hearings were held either in person or by

         21  mail.

         22                 Although the general public often

         23  believes that the violations it receives come from

         24  ECB, as a judicial entity, ECB does not issue

         25  notices of violation, neither does it establish
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          2  enforcement policies employing inspectors or agents,

          3  or direct control or otherwise influence where, when

          4  or to whom notices are to be issued.

          5                 ECB, however, does regularly meet

          6  with enforcement agencies to discuss enforcement

          7  issues related to ECB.

          8                 Once a notice of violation is issued,

          9  however, the manner may only be resolved through the

         10  adjudication process at the Board. The Board itself

         11  consists of 13 member. Seven members are the heads

         12  of Mayoral agencies who serve ex-officio, the

         13  Commissioners of DEP, Buildings, Sanitation,

         14  Department of Health, DCA, NYPD and the Fire

         15  Department.

         16                 Six other members are appointed by

         17  the Mayor and confirmed by the Council. ECB was

         18  created as an alternative to the Criminal Courts for

         19  adjudication of air and noise code violations. The

         20  first category of NOVs, ECB adjudicated.

         21                 Rather than burn the Criminal Court

         22  judges with adjudicating Environmental Code

         23  violations, the Council gave ECB the authority to

         24  hold administrative hearings. In separating ECB from

         25  the court system, the Council allowed ECB hearing
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          2  officers to focus on making findings of fact and

          3  conclusions of law.

          4                 Consequently, ECB could provide a

          5  faster and more effective resolution of these

          6  violations than was possible in the court system.

          7                 Because ECB has been an effective

          8  forum for handling administrative hearings, the City

          9  Council has continually increased its jurisdiction

         10  well beyond the air and noise violations.

         11                 Notwithstanding the Legislative

         12  Findings Section of Intro. 66-A which makes the

         13  unsubstantiated claim, there are alarming practices

         14  relating to ECB adjudications that raise serious

         15  questions as to whether respondents are treated

         16  fairly and accorded due process. The hearing

         17  officers at ECB are experienced attorneys who review

         18  and evaluate all material and evidence brought

         19  before them in a fair and impartial manner.

         20                 A measure of the success of the

         21  hearing officers is that less than one percent of

         22  their decisions are appealed, and in fact hearing

         23  officers on the whole dismiss 37 percent of all

         24  cases because the issuing agencies have failed in

         25  some way to make an effective case.
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          2                 ECB has consistently sought to make

          3  improvements to a system to make the adjudication

          4  process more user-friendly for individuals and

          5  businesses. Specifically speeding up the appeals

          6  process by allocating additional attorneys and

          7  additional administrative personnel through creation

          8  of night courts on Wednesday, male adjudication for

          9  respondents whose defenses lend themselves to

         10  evidence based on documents, having ECB hearing

         11  offices in all boroughs, ongoing intensive training

         12  of hearing officers to ensure that they are familiar

         13  with all the laws relevant to ECB's jurisdiction,

         14  undertaking an interactive voice response system

         15  with DoITT to speed up customer service, providing

         16  Internet adjudications and improving the calendaring

         17  of ECB cases to provide faster adjudication and get

         18  citizens in and out of ECB more quickly.

         19                 Some of the provisions of Intro. 64-A

         20  and 66-A could undermine ECB's mission.

         21                 Other provisions of the bills would

         22  have less specific impact on ECB itself, but various

         23  serious impacts on the ability of the issuing

         24  agencies to enforce the local laws that the Council

         25  has enacted.
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          2                 Taken together, the provisions of the

          3  two bills could create longer waiting times, slower

          4  decisions and penalties that are not consistently

          5  applied from office to office, from hearing officer

          6  to hearing officer.

          7                 With respect to enforcement, the

          8  penalty provisions of Intro. 64-A in particular can

          9  result in consistently lower penalties for a wide

         10  class of violations.

         11                 While that might seem like a

         12  temporary benefit to people getting violations,

         13  there could be more serious impacts.

         14                 If, for example, enforcement of

         15  sanitation, fire and building codes is less

         16  effective because an enacted Intro. 64-A required

         17  ECB to use the lowest possible penalty more often,

         18  then the City could become dirtier or less safe and

         19  the public at large suffers.

         20                 Obviously, the Council does not

         21  desire that outcome, and I'll look forward to

         22  working on this legislation with the Council and the

         23  issuing agencies to make sure that that does not

         24  happen.

         25                 Rather than going through all of the
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          2  provisions in each of the bills, and explaining how

          3  each would affect the current procedures of either

          4  the issuing agency or ECB, my testimony focuses on

          5  the two most common issues raised by the

          6  legislation.

          7                 The appropriateness of ECB

          8  promulgating penalty schedules that direct hearing

          9  officers to use other than minimum penalties, an

         10  issue addressed in 64-A, and the use of per diem

         11  hearing officers, as well as salaried on-staff

         12  hearing officers to meet the demands of ECB's

         13  caseload, an issue addressed in 66-A. For nearly all

         14  violations adjudicated by ECB, the Administrative

         15  Code provides a minimum and a maximum civil penalty.

         16  In some cases, the noise code, for example, the code

         17  creates a more complicated penalty scheme, by

         18  creating a separate penalty range for first

         19  violations, second violations, and all subsequent

         20  violations.

         21                 Pursuant to Charter Sections 1404 and

         22  1043, the members of the Board have the authority to

         23  designate specific penalties from within the range

         24  prescribed by the ad code.

         25                 Until 2004, ECB exercised authority
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          2  by creating a penalty schedule. The penalty schedule

          3  was a lengthy Board approved document that directed

          4  hearing officers once they had determined whether or

          5  not the respondent is guilty of the violation to

          6  assign a specific penalty. I know that the penalty

          7  schedule was lengthy because it provided a penalty

          8  for the thousands of classes of violations ECB

          9  adjudicates and sets forth several penalties for

         10  many of the violations, depending on whether the

         11  code allows for higher penalties for second and

         12  subsequent violations.

         13                 Although the hearing officers have

         14  discretion to make a determination of the facts and

         15  conclusions of law for each case before them, the

         16  Board gives them no discretion to decide on a

         17  penalty once the facts have been decided.

         18                 The hearing schedule allows the Board

         19  to impose uniformed and consistent penalties for all

         20  respondents within the statutory range provided for

         21  in the ad code.

         22                 ECB has determined that designating

         23  specific penalties for specific offenses was

         24  critical in order to avoid scenarios in which

         25  different hearing officers imposed very different
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          2  penalties to persons who had violated the same

          3  provisions under the same factual circumstances.

          4                 In the absence of ECB's penalty

          5  schedules, hearing officers would have essentially

          6  unfettered discretion in deciding whether to impose

          7  penalties on the low or the high end of the

          8  statutory range established by the Council.

          9                 Thus ECB's penalty structure protects

         10  against disparate treatment of persons who have

         11  violated local laws by establishing a more coherent

         12  systematic approach to imposing penalties.

         13                 This consistent approach to penalty

         14  imposition ensures that the public knows their

         15  potential financial liability for a specific

         16  violation.

         17                 In 2004, as a result of litigation, a

         18  court found that ECB's penalty schedule was not

         19  enforceable unless it was promulgated by regulation

         20  pursuant to the Citywide Administrative Procedures

         21  Act, or CAPA.

         22                 In the fall of 2004, ECB took its

         23  penalty schedule and began the process of

         24  promulgating it as part of the rule compilation of

         25  New York City. In 2005, that process was completed.
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          2                 The penalties in the rules

          3  promulgated by ECB reflected careful consideration

          4  and analysis conducted by the Board over many years

          5  to determine the most appropriate and fair penalties

          6  for the many types of violations ECB adjudicates.

          7                 In all cases, the penalties and the

          8  schedule, and the penalties in the rule were within

          9  the penalty ranges in the Administrative Code.

         10                 The issue with minimum penalties

         11  arose when ECB was promulgating the above-noted

         12  rule. Although the rule did not subsequently modify

         13  penalty schedules, certain associations representing

         14  businesses directly appear before ECB made the claim

         15  that the rule unlawfully exceeded ECB's authority by

         16  containing penalties higher than the minimum

         17  provided for in ad code.

         18                 Although this claim ignores the fact

         19  that the code typically provides a range, not just

         20  the minimum, it is true ECB's penalty schedule and

         21  then its rule does not always direct ECB's hearing

         22  officers to use the minimum penalty provided for in

         23  the code.

         24                 The reason for that varies, depending

         25  on the specific type of violation, but essentially
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          2  it is due to the fact that the issuing agency

          3  established to the Board's satisfaction, the

          4  statutory minimum was not the reasonable appropriate

          5  fine, and would not be effective in ensuring

          6  compliance with the law.

          7                 Although the language of the bill is

          8  unclear, the intention of Intro. 64-A may be to

          9  prohibit ECB from assigning a first violation

         10  minimum penalty that is higher than the minimum

         11  penalty provided for in the ad code.

         12                 While that may seem a reasonable

         13  direction to ECB, in fact the ad code often uses low

         14  minimum penalties, including zero. If the Board is

         15  to continue its practice of allowing hearing

         16  officers to make decisions only with respect to the

         17  facts of the case and the conclusion of law, then

         18  the enactment of Intro. 64-A means that ECB would

         19  have to amend its penalty rules to require that a

         20  respondent get no penalty or a very low penalty.

         21                 The alternative is to allow the

         22  hearing officer's discretion to assign penalties

         23  themselves. That practice would end the certainty

         24  with respect to penalties, as that is an extremely

         25  valuable part of ECB's adjudication.
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          2                 Under ECB's current practices,

          3  because the specific penalties are established in

          4  the Board rules, the public knows in advance exactly

          5  what the penalty is, should they be found in

          6  violation.

          7                 If the discretion of hearing officers

          8  is extended to assigning penalties, the result could

          9  be that different hearing officers, and there are

         10  150 of them, would impose very different penalties

         11  on persons who have violated the same provision of

         12  law.

         13                 64-A would seriously undermine the

         14  perceived and possibly the actual fairness of ECB

         15  adjudications by investing these hearing officers

         16  with this discretion.

         17                 By way of example, the statutory

         18  range for a second offense of many of the Building

         19  Code Violations adjudicated at ECB is zero to

         20  $10,000.

         21                 Therefore, hearing officers had

         22  discretion to choose within that range for any

         23  charge. For example, perhaps a store awning

         24  violation or a failure to renew a permit, some

         25  respondents might end up getting a zero penalty, and
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          2  others a $10,000 penalty because they're cases were

          3  heard by different hearing officers.

          4                 The potential for actual or perceived

          5  unfairness among the public would be great. It would

          6  certainly result in many complaints to public

          7  officials, including the Council, and has the

          8  potential of resulting in lawsuits alleging

          9  disparate treatment.

         10                 This type of discretionary penalty

         11  structure would deprive small businesses of

         12  predictability regarding possible exposure, if they

         13  violated various laws, and also would deprive

         14  enforcement agencies of effective enforcement tools.

         15                 The penalty structure adopted by the

         16  board does not usurp the authority of the Council to

         17  prescribe penalties. It is ECB's intention to

         18  provide a fair and meaningful adjudication that

         19  creates disincentives for those who do not comply

         20  with the law, but within the range set forth in the

         21  ad code.

         22                 The Council itself has recognized

         23  that important principle. For example, in passing

         24  Local Law 84 of 1997, a series of amendments to the

         25  penalties in the noise code, the legislative intent
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          2  states that strong penalty provisions serve as a

          3  deterrent to violations. The revisions of 64-A could

          4  also affect ECB's ability to allow respondents to

          5  mail in their penalty if they admit to the

          6  violation.

          7                 If Intro. 64-A were enacted, the

          8  ECB's penalty schedules and the ECB's penalty

          9  schedule as modified, to provide a statutory minimum

         10  penalty of zero, then the mail-in process becomes

         11  useless because there is no penalty.

         12                 The alternative, if the hearing

         13  officer is permitted discretion to assign the

         14  penalty, then there is no Board-prescribed panel

         15  created in advance, so the respondent must come to a

         16  hearing and the mail-in process would be no longer

         17  available.

         18                 In the previous fiscal year, there

         19  were 161,000 mail-in admissions that would become

         20  in-person hearings at ECB, almost doubling the

         21  amount of hearings now being held.

         22                 Section 3 of Intro. 66-A proposes to

         23  amend the structure of ECB, by requiring that the

         24  Board appoint a chief administrative law judge who

         25  would then appoint a staff of administrative law
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          2  judges or ALJ's to conduct hearings. These ALJs

          3  would have four-year trends that would already have

          4  to be admitted to practice for five years.

          5                 The significance of this section is

          6  that it would effectively prohibit ECB's use of per

          7  diem hearing officers to conduct hearings.

          8                 By only allowing tenure ALJs to

          9  conduct hearings, 66-A would fundamentally alter how

         10  ECB now works. Since ECB caseload varies on any

         11  given day, ECB for many years has found it most

         12  efficient and cost effective to have hearings

         13  conducted by a mix of both full-time staff

         14  attorneys, and per diem attorneys. Currently we rely

         15  on a pool of approximately 150 per diem officers and

         16  12 full-time staff attorneys to give us maximum

         17  flexibility to conduct hearings. An additional eight

         18  full-time attorneys work on appeals.

         19                 The primary advantage of having a

         20  large roster of per diem hearing officers is that it

         21  enables the ECB to match staffing needs to its

         22  varied caseload, which includes NOVs written by a

         23  dozen agencies returnable to ECB offices in five

         24  boroughs.

         25                 The caseload in ECB's borough hearing
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          2  offices varies greatly, due to additions in ECB's

          3  jurisdiction, new enforcement initiatives on the

          4  part of issuing agencies and the variable nature of

          5  ECB's caseload generally.

          6                 ECB's flexible roster of per diem

          7  hearing officers enables us to try and match hearing

          8  officer availability with the caseload.

          9                 The goal is to balance hearing

         10  officer availability with the scheduling needs of

         11  the respondents, the issuing officers and the

         12  issuing agency hearing representatives.

         13                 The small core of full-time hearing

         14  officers and full-time attorney supervisor staff is

         15  supplemented by per diem attorneys on an add-needed

         16  basis makes that possible.

         17                 It also allows ECB to retain

         18  experience and knowledge, ensure basic staffing

         19  needs and ensure us meeting with some specialized

         20  needs.

         21                 Using per diem attorneys also seems

         22  to mesh with the needs of the attorneys themselves.

         23  Many of our per diem attorneys are retired, involved

         24  in child care, work another part-time job, or for

         25  some other reason are not interested in full time
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          2  staff work at ECB.

          3                 ECB's use of per diem attorneys

          4  allows us to benefit from their legal skills, and

          5  allows them to meet their own personal scheduling

          6  needs.

          7                 Indeed, we would lose most of our

          8  most experienced hearing officers because they would

          9  not be interested in working full-time.

         10                 In this connection, it should be

         11  noted that per diem hearing officers have been used

         12  at ECB almost since its creation in the early 1970s.

         13                 In fact, Section 1404 of the Charter

         14  specifically sanctions the use of hearing officers

         15  by providing that the Board may appoint an executive

         16  director and such hearing officers, including

         17  non-salaried hearing officers and other employees as

         18  it may from time to time find necessary.

         19                 From the point of view of the public,

         20  a large roster of per-diem hearing officers

         21  maximizes ECB's ability to deploy hearing officers

         22  where and when they are needed so that we can keep

         23  waiting times at our hearing locations to a minimum.

         24  Using only full-time tenured ALJs would not allow

         25  ECB to provide its current level of service.
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          2                 Were Intro. 66-A to pass its current

          3  form, ECB would expect a drastic increase in waiting

          4  times at some of our locations for some of the

          5  violations that we handle.

          6                 Without the ability to use per diem

          7  hearing officers, we could not reasonably expect to

          8  have enough ALJ's at the times when they are most

          9  needed.

         10                 Ending the use of per-diem officers

         11  would also have fiscal implications. ECB in Fiscal

         12  Year '05 used the equivalent of 108,708 hours of per

         13  diem time to adjudicate cases. This is equivalent to

         14  an additional 62 full-time ECB attorneys.

         15                 The FY '05 personnel costs for the

         16  per-diem hearing officers was $3.8 million. If we

         17  were to convert per-diems to 62 full-time attorneys

         18  at a title and salary consistent with ALJs employed

         19  by OATH, the additional cost for replacing per-diems

         20  with full-time staff would be in the range of $7.4

         21  million, a doubling of the PS cost for ECB. This

         22  does not include the additional resources that would

         23  be needed to handle the additional hearings that

         24  would occur because of the elimination of mail-in

         25  penalties.
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          2                 Although the fiscal impact is

          3  significant, our primary concern with prohibiting

          4  use of per diems is not the fiscal impact. It is the

          5  impact on the public by reducing ECBs ability to

          6  have hearing officers available to meet variable

          7  caseload needs.

          8                 My testimony this morning has focused

          9  on the two most critical issues posed by 64-A and

         10  66-A. Intro. 66-A also creates new requirements with

         11  respect to discovery, mandatory language to be

         12  included on NOV's, the provision of interpreters and

         13  the right of respondents to consolidate violations.

         14  In the interest of time, I have not discussed these

         15  new requirements, some of which duplicate current

         16  ECB procedures intended to achieve the same goals as

         17  the legislation.

         18                 Other of these requirements, such as

         19  the discovery provisions of Intro. 66-A, would pose

         20  significant burdens on the enforcement agencies.

         21                 I look forward to discussing these

         22  provisions with the Committee and its staff soon.

         23                 Finally, before I close, the Law

         24  Department has advised us that Int. No. 66-A

         25  contains provisions that curtail ECB's powers, and
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          2  by extension, the powers of the Mayor. Intro. No.

          3  66-A is therefore subject to mandatory referendum

          4  under Section 38 of the Charter.

          5                 Thank you again for the chance to

          6  testify on these bills. We would be happy to answer

          7  any questions that you may have.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: That was an

          9  impressive reading.

         10                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I would like to

         12  defer to Council Member Gennaro as the prime sponsor

         13  of these bills. I do have a number of questions, but

         14  I'm happy to do it as follow-up.

         15                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And I want to

         17  note that we have been joined, of course, by --

         18  well, we were joined by, obviously they're not here

         19  at the moment, but I'm sure they'll return, by

         20  Council Members Gentile and James.

         21                 Council Member Gennaro.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Thank you,

         23  Mr. Chairman.

         24                 Thank you, Mr. Friedman and Mr.

         25  Moran, for being here and for, as the Chairman said,
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          2  your comprehensive testimony, and for all that you

          3  do to, in your attempt to try to bring fairness,

          4  with regard to adjudication and violation at the

          5  ECB. And I also wish to thank you for the several

          6  places in your statement in which you indicate that

          7  you want to work with us, you're looking forward to

          8  discussing the provisions of the bills, and I look

          9  forward to working on this legislation with the

         10  Council, and, so, thank you for that. And we'll

         11  certainly take you up on that.

         12                 And just some, I guess rather than --

         13  and you also chose not to go into real detail on

         14  every aspect of every bill and in the interest of

         15  time. This is something that will be worked out

         16  during the negotiation process. You left it as sort

         17  of like, to get to some of the big points of the

         18  bill, which you did, for both of the bills, and I

         19  guess I'll try to keep my question kind of at the

         20  same level, with the understanding that we'll get to

         21  some of the real detail as we do the bill

         22  negotiations.

         23                 But with regard to the minimum

         24  penalty, I think you just have kind of a

         25  philosophical disconnect in that the legislation
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          2  doesn't really require the minimum fine to be the

          3  fine, it just seems appropriate that it be on the

          4  table, and so that that's what we're, this is sort

          5  of the overarching goal of what we're trying to get

          6  at, and sort of coupled with that, is the notion

          7  that it is appropriate and even necessary to sort of

          8  vest in the hearing officers or ALJs the ability to

          9  use discretion, you know, when appropriate, and

         10  although you point out the virtues of them like not

         11  having discretion, we don't see that as a virtue.

         12  And if this officer is currently vested with the

         13  power to determine based on the facts of the case

         14  whether the person is innocent or guilty, then it

         15  seems if they're in -- if they're able to do that,

         16  then they should be able to exercise some discretion

         17  as to whether or not a lower penalty is more

         18  appropriate than like in mid-range or higher

         19  penalty, that's really what we're getting at, and to

         20  have the officers not to have that ability, not to

         21  have that discretion, is almost the same as saying

         22  that every violation of the law has all the, you

         23  know, exact circumstances. And certainly that that

         24  is not the case, there are other factors, there are

         25  mitigating circumstances, and, you know, unless
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          2  we're willing to admit that every ECB violation of a

          3  certain class is, you know, exactly the same as

          4  every other, then I think you have to give that kind

          5  of discretion. So, that's sort of my overall, you

          6  know, philosophical comment, and I'd like you to

          7  respond to that, if you would.

          8                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Council member, I guess

          9  we just see things differently. We believe that the

         10  hearing officers decide whether a violation ensued

         11  or it didn't, and whether you're guilty or not

         12  guilty. Once they decide that, we believe that there

         13  should be a specific penalty that is imposed, and

         14  that the hearing officer should not decide in a

         15  range between zero and $10,000 what the penalty

         16  should be, and have the situations where two

         17  citizens did the same thing, one gets a penalty of

         18  $100 and one gets a penalty of $9,000. We believe

         19  that would cause more problems than currently exist.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: We think

         21  there are certainly ways to prevent that from

         22  happening. Certainly that would be a draconian

         23  interpretation of what we're trying to do here. I

         24  think we just have a disagreement there, and to us,

         25  to me as Chairman and to the sponsors of this bill,
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          2  and hopefully we will have broad support for this

          3  from the Council, we think that the full range of

          4  penalties that we prescribed should be at least on

          5  the table for the officers who consider.

          6                 Now, this doesn't mean, of course,

          7  that there can't be a guideline, not that there

          8  can't be a guidance given to what we hope will be a,

          9  you know, higher caliber of officers who will be

         10  hearing these cases, but we don't see the horror

         11  story scenario that to kind of play out, and we

         12  think that by working with you, in working with

         13  others in the regular community, we can come to some

         14  kind of paradigm that will, you know, meet the needs

         15  of all involved.

         16                 I mean, this is really what we're

         17  saying, we think there's a road map to get there,

         18  and this is what we're going to seek to do as we

         19  negotiate this bill. Go ahead.

         20                 MR. FRIEDMAN: I just want to

         21  reiterate that we disagree. And I think one of the

         22  things I said in my testimony is by eliminating the

         23  penalty schedules that are adopted by the Board and

         24  promulgated pursuant to CAPA, you are eliminating

         25  the ability for us to use mail-in penalties, and
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          2  would increase or almost double the amount of

          3  hearings that we now need --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Well, that

          5  was something that, you know, Chairman and I, caught

          6  our attention in your testimony. This is something,

          7  you know, very significant and we will, that's

          8  something that we will have to take a look at and

          9  find out how that particular point, which was well

         10  taken by both myself and the Chairman could be

         11  addressed.

         12                 Let me just ask another question that

         13  came to me as you were reading your statement with

         14  regard to -- it doesn't really go to the bills

         15  themselves but I guess it's something that I'm just

         16  wondering about.

         17                 You mentioned in your testimony about

         18  the complicated penalty schedules that speak to

         19  whether someone is a first-time violator or second

         20  time violator or persistent multiple violator; you

         21  know, how is it known that someone, or that

         22  individual or a business entity is a one-time,

         23  two-time, or regular customer of ECB? Is that

         24  something which is known by the entity writing the

         25  violation? Or does it come up on your system? How is
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          2  it known that someone is a multiple violator?

          3                 MR. FRIEDMAN: At the time the

          4  violation is issued, the issuing agency will note on

          5  the violation it's the second or third subsequent

          6  violation.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: How would

          8  they know that?

          9                 MR. FRIEDMAN: By their office records

         10  they would know whether it was the second or third

         11  violation.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: I'm a street

         13  vendor, or whatever, and I get, or I'm a business

         14  and I get a violation, so how could it be that

         15  someone writing the violation would have knowledge

         16  at that time that someone is a one time, two time,

         17  three time, four time violator? Is it a hand-held

         18  computer? How could the officer have access to that

         19  information? And I guess I'm putting you on the spot

         20  of, you know, you're not the entity that writes

         21  them, I'm just wondering how in the world of getting

         22  violations and getting them adjudicated, how are we

         23  keeping track of how many times a person has -- it

         24  is more of an oversight question than like a

         25  legislative, but it's something that I'm interested
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          2  in.

          3                 MR. MORAN: I would be happy to try to

          4  attempt some of those answers.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Sure.

          6                 MR. MORAN: For the general vending

          7  violations, there is a notation on a violation that

          8  it will be subject to a multiple offense.

          9                 When a respondent comes into the

         10  Environmental Control Board Offices, our hearing

         11  officers will review the number of violations issued

         12  in a 12-month period or two-year period and

         13  determine the appropriate penalty to be imposed,

         14  whether it's the first, second or third offense.

         15                 For the Building Code and the Fire

         16  Code violations, the agencies themselves will notate

         17  on the violation whether it's the second or third

         18  violation.

         19                 And to address the question on the

         20  hand-helds, the Department of Sanitation is just

         21  about ready to undertake a pilot program issuing

         22  handheld violations, and that program built into the

         23  hand-held itself, will indicate whether it's a

         24  first, second or a third violation.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: So, someone
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          2  like a vendor, who at the time of the issuance of

          3  the violation, it is not known presumably whether

          4  the person is a first, second or third-time

          5  violator; would a violation like that be able to be

          6  handled through like the mailing thing? Or would you

          7  have to really go down to ECB to find out how many

          8  times?

          9                 MR. MORAN: There are some vendors who

         10  keep very, very good records of the number of

         11  violations they receive, and they do mail in a

         12  penalty. That's my understanding. They would know

         13  that, okay, within a two-year period this is the

         14  second violation that I've received that's subject

         15  to the multiple offense schedule, and they'll mail

         16  in the correct amount and our system would know what

         17  that penalty is and adjust it out so they would not

         18  have to appear.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: So, they,

         20  themselves, will sit down at their calculator saying

         21  it's like two or three times for me, and is like the

         22  schedule on the ticket, or how --

         23                 MR. MORAN: The schedule is on the

         24  ticket, on the back of the violation.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: And so on the
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          2  back of the violation, if this is your first time

          3  it's X, if it's two times it's whatever, if it's

          4  three times the person will know that he already has

          5  two violations and this is the third time, he wants

          6  to plead guilty, he pays for what would be the third

          7  time.

          8                 MR. MORAN: That is correct.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Okay. I was

         10  curious about that.

         11                 And, also, in your statement you

         12  talked about the difficulties of going from the per

         13  diem to sort of like a full-time ALJ set-up, could

         14  you elaborate a little more on why it is, in your

         15  view, not possible to create an ALJ system?

         16                 MR. MORAN: Many of the per diem

         17  hearing officers that we now employ, some of whom

         18  are retired, some of who have child care issues,

         19  some of who have other outside practices, would not

         20  particularly be incident working full-time for ECB,

         21  and in the instance of the retired individuals, they

         22  have income tax that they wouldn't be able to

         23  exceed, and the working mother or working father

         24  scenario, it probably still would not be in their

         25  interest to give up their flexibility to work
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          2  full-time. And for the part-time employed

          3  individuals, you know, I have not really canvassed

          4  anyone to them, whether they'd be interested or not.

          5                 But I would say a good 50 percent of

          6  the ALJs that we have fall into the category of

          7  individuals who have family concerns, or individuals

          8  who are retired and would have an income concern if

          9  they were offered full-time positions.

         10                 And it happens that some of those

         11  ALJs are more experienced, and I won't say better

         12  but certainly more experienced ALJs.

         13                 MR. FRIEDMAN: And on the other side,

         14  the number of hearing officers that are needed on a

         15  particular day in a particular borough changes, so

         16  that we don't want to have hearing officers sitting

         17  around not hearing hearings, we want to have them

         18  working. So, it's a complicated calculus that's done

         19  to figure out how many hearings are going to be on

         20  that day for which agencies, and how many ALJs are

         21  needed.

         22                 MR. MORAN: And also, I might add, as

         23  the system works now, typically an ALJ is assigned

         24  to a particular location, either Brooklyn or Queens

         25  or Manhattan, and let's say that they're scheduled

                                                            71

          1  COMMITTEE ON SMALL BUSINESS

          2  for a Friday, in anticipation of a large volume of

          3  cases coming in, and it turns out that in fact there

          4  are no large volume of cases, we have other things

          5  that those individuals can do, such as writing up

          6  decisions on other cases or assigning the hearings

          7  by mail or something along those lines.  Under the

          8  provisions now where we would employ full-time

          9  people would be a guess, and it's possible that an

         10  individual would be assigned to a borough and they

         11  would not have work available to them, because let's

         12  say the primary borough was Manhattan, but they had

         13  to be sent to Brooklyn for the day.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Let's talk a

         15  little bit about your use of the hearing officers

         16  and the structure that you have now. Is it the case

         17  that there are certain hearing officers that become

         18  let's say expert in certain, you know, types of

         19  violations, and those are the kind of violations

         20  that they do and they work on, they're expert on,

         21  and other, you know, officers do other kinds of

         22  cases, is there an, you know, allocation of casework

         23  among the hearing officers, based on subject matter;

         24  is that something which goes on, or are all hearing

         25  officers equally versed in doing all kinds of
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          2  violations that have to be adjudicated? Or do you

          3  have like specialists, ringers if you will?

          4                 MR. MORAN: I wouldn't refer to them

          5  as ringers. I would refer to them as specialists,

          6  perhaps, but --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Specialists.

          8  Specialists first.

          9                 MR. MORAN: If you wouldn't mind, I

         10  could explain the process of hiring ALJs and how we

         11  train them. We identify per-diems. They come into a

         12  training session at ECB for a two-day period where

         13  they are given instruction in how ECB operates, the

         14  rules, the regulations and so forth.

         15                 After they've completed the two-day

         16  process, they are then paired with senior, more

         17  experienced administrative law judge hearing

         18  officers, where what would happen is if Rich was my

         19  mentor, he would observe me conducting a hearing,

         20  and then would give me comments as to how I work.

         21                 Typically a new ALJ would start with

         22  a vending violation, sanitation code violation.

         23                 As we observe them, we identify

         24  whether they are a ringer, if they have

         25  possibilities to have a wider range of caseloads
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          2  that they might hear. So, they might be experienced

          3  in the Department of Transportation violations, then

          4  they might move up to a more complicated fire

          5  violations an the Building Code violations. And as

          6  with life, not all the ALJs can move up to the

          7  Building and Fire Code violations, but we do, I

          8  would say, have the more experienced and more

          9  knowledgeable ALJs hearing the more complicated

         10  types of cases.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: So, it's fair

         12  to say there is an apportionment and allocation of,

         13  you know, casework, you know, based on specific

         14  expertise and level of overall experience.

         15                 MR. MORAN: But, yes, an ALJ could

         16  hear a Building Code Violation, I should say hearing

         17  officer, hearing officer who could hear a building

         18  code violation, could also hear a sanitation

         19  violation. It's more that some ALJs who are very

         20  proficient at Sanitation Code or general vending

         21  just aren't able to seem to make the leap to hear a

         22  Building or a Fire Code violation. But all of our

         23  ALJs are technically qualified to hear all

         24  violations going down, but going upwards we prefer

         25  to use others. It makes it clear.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Okay. Because

          3  one of the things we have, as you know, in one of

          4  the bills, is the ability to have people, have

          5  people who get the violations, multiple violations,

          6  have them hurry kind of at the same time, rather

          7  than have to come back several times. And what I

          8  guess I didn't hear in your testimony, was that that

          9  would cause a problem because you would have the,

         10  you know, same ALJ that will be hearing, you know,

         11  multiple violations and that would, you know,

         12  present a problem, and I wasn't sure if that's just

         13  something that you didn't want to cover in your

         14  testimony or was really a problem or not.

         15                 MR. FRIEDMAN: It is a problem. We

         16  didn't want to address it because we felt in the

         17  scheme of things it wasn't quite as large of problem

         18  as the two that we addressed in the testimony.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Right.

         20                 MR. FRIEDMAN: We do bundle cases now

         21  if they are of a particular type with sanitation

         22  violations. It's hard to do, if one person gets a

         23  violation in two different boroughs, two different

         24  types, one's a sanitation, one's a building, the

         25  agencies may not have representatives at the borough
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          2  office, both sanitation representative and a

          3  buildings representative.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: I think it

          5  was more the case that if you're an owner or

          6  something and you're at your job and you get

          7  multiple violations, you're looking for the ability

          8  to have them heard at once.

          9                 MR. FRIEDMAN: If you get sanitation

         10  violations on three different days, we will allow

         11  you to have those all heard at the same time.

         12                 MR. MORAN: The problem arrives when

         13  it's across boroughs. If you, for example, own

         14  property in Queens and you receive multiple

         15  Sanitation violations in Queens and you also receive

         16  a Building Code violation, and the premises are

         17  located in Queens, we could consolidate those cases

         18  for you.

         19                 Where if you wanted to consolidate

         20  cases that you own property in Brooklyn, and you own

         21  property in Queens, and you receive violations for

         22  both Building Codes in both locations, it would be

         23  difficult for ECB to consolidate that because we

         24  have to rely on the issuing agency to be in

         25  different locations on different days.
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          2                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Yes. So, we just felt

          3  that the legislation was drafted a bit too broadly.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: I see.

          5                 MR. MORAN: It's in ECB's interest to

          6  consolidate and we do it as a matter of course, and

          7  we've been requested in the past to consolidate

          8  cases. For example, Con Edison comes in on a routine

          9  basis on Wednesdays to adjudicate their cases, so we

         10  work with an agency to do that, and we have

         11  undertaken other initiatives with respondents who

         12  receive violations to do that.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Okay, David,

         14  if you wanted, I'm just going to figure out what

         15  other questions I would like to ask.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Terrific. I do.

         17  Well, thank you very much. I want to also note, of

         18  course, we've been joined by Council Member Palma

         19  and Council Member Darlene Mealy.

         20                 On the mail-in, is everyone offered

         21  the opportunity to take the mail-in deal, or do you

         22  weed out some that don't have that opportunity and

         23  have to come in for a hearing?

         24                 MR. MORAN: There are some classes of

         25  violation where the respondent must appear. For
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          2  example, Fire Department violation, there was no

          3  mail-in penalty. Sanitation class violations, the

          4  majority, the vast majority of cases of mail-in

          5  penalties allow, the Department of Transportation

          6  allows for mail-in penalties, and in some instances

          7  Department of Buildings will allow what we'll call a

          8  stipulation, which is basically to admit the

          9  violation and get additional time to correct it.

         10                 So, I would say in roughly 90 percent

         11  of the cases, there's an offer of a mail-in penalty.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: The exceptions

         13  are Fire Department, Fire Code violations, some

         14  sanitation you said?

         15                 MR. MORAN: Very few sanitation.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Can you give me

         17  an example? Do you know?

         18                 MR. MORAN: Certainly. It would be

         19  illegal dumping type of violations.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay.

         21                 MR. MORAN: And medical waste

         22  violations.

         23                 And sanitation asbestos violations.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And some

         25  buildings you said, as well?
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          2                 MR. MORAN: Some buildings. Typically

          3  a stipulation might be offered on a first offense,

          4  but may not be offered on a second offense for a

          5  building, or if it's a hazardous condition, the

          6  Buildings Department may not wish to offer what I

          7  call the stipulation, the admission by mail.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And is there a --

          9  is the mail-in price set kind of violation by

         10  violation? Is it set department by department, so

         11  all the sanitation violations have the same mail-in

         12  price, or within the Sanitation Department are there

         13  different mail-in prices for different violations?

         14                 MR. MORAN: It depends on the

         15  violation. I could give you a little bit of

         16  background, if that would be helpful.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Sure.

         18                 MR. MORAN: The Board itself passed,

         19  as we mentioned in the testimony, establishes the

         20  minimum/maximum. The minimum will be imposed at a

         21  hearing, the maximum would be what would be

         22  defaulted if the respondent failed to appear for a

         23  hearing. So, if a respondent was eligible for a

         24  mail-in penalty, they would be eligible for the

         25  minimum penalty that would be established at the
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          2  hearing itself.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And do those

          4  vary? Within the sanitation, do those vary

          5  violation-by-violation, or are they all the same?

          6                 MR. MORAN: Penalties vary by

          7  violation-by-violation.

          8                 Each violation has a separate penalty

          9  to be imposed at a hearing and then a separate

         10  default penalty. But there may be similarities

         11  within that.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Could you say

         13  that again? Could you say that again about the

         14  separate?

         15                 MR. MORAN: ECB has over two- or

         16  three-thousand different infractions that we deal

         17  with.

         18                 The Sanitation Code violations, you

         19  may have a dirty sidewalk, you may have a failure to

         20  sweep 18 inches, you have mixed recyclables, things

         21  like that.

         22                 Each of those violations have a

         23  penalty established, some are the same, some are

         24  different. For example, recycling penalties are

         25  usually $25. You know, dirty sidewalk would be $100
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          2  and failure to sweep 18 inches would be $100. So,

          3  there is different penalties for different types of

          4  violations. I hope that makes it a little bit

          5  clearer.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: It does. But I

          7  thought you might have said this, the minimum

          8  penalty to come in for a hearing is different from

          9  the mail-in price.

         10                 MR. MORAN: No.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay, that's the

         12  same thing.

         13                 MR. FRIEDMAN: If you don't mail in

         14  and you don't come in for a hearing and you're in

         15  default, then there is a higher penalty.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I'm sorry. I get

         17  you now. Okay, then there's a third minimum for

         18  defaults. Not third, but they're separate.

         19                 Here is why I'm trying to understand

         20  this. I certainly agree with you, if I'm

         21  characterizing what you think correctly, that we do

         22  not want to eliminate the opportunity for mail and

         23  for people to settle violations through the mail.

         24  Plainly you want that to be an opportunity for

         25  people.
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          2                 I don't think it's necessary,

          3  certainly logically not necessary, and I'm not sure

          4  I understand why it is practically that there be a

          5  minimum penalty at hearing in order for there to be

          6  a mail-in opportunity. You could have a default

          7  penalty, you could have a mail-in price and still

          8  have a minimum at a hearing that was lower than that

          9  or even higher, I suppose, but there's no reason

         10  logically it has to be the same thing, correct?

         11                 MR. MORAN: I'm not sure. I mean, as

         12  we view the legislation or interpret the

         13  legislation, the desire is to give an Administrative

         14  Law Judge or a hearing officer, as it now exists,

         15  the discretion to impose a range of penalties. The

         16  range may go from $50 to $10,000 with any particular

         17  statute.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: What are some

         19  penalties where there is a wide range in the

         20  statute?

         21                 MR. MORAN: Do my lawyers want to give

         22  me an answer here?

         23                 Building Code violations, any illegal

         24  conversion code violation could go up to $25,000.

         25  The penalty at a hearing may be at $800 or $1,000.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And that's an

          3  example of one where you do have a minimum penalty

          4  that you prescribed?

          5                 MR. MORAN: There's a minimum at

          6  hearing penalty. There's no mail-in penalty, but

          7  there's a minimum at a hearing that would be

          8  imposed.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And it's higher

         10  than the statutory minimum?

         11                 MR. MORAN: No, it is not. None of ECB

         12  violations are higher than --

         13                 MR. FRIEDMAN: It's within the range

         14  set by the Council.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: But it's higher

         16  than the -- if I understand it, this proposal only

         17  has impact if you have ones that are higher than the

         18  statutory minimum?

         19                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And, again, the

         21  rationale for that is?

         22                 Apart from the mail-in, you won't

         23  have a mail-in price, agreed. What's the rationale

         24  for having a minimum at hearing? That's higher than

         25  the statutory one.

                                                            83

          1  COMMITTEE ON SMALL BUSINESS

          2                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Well, some of the

          3  statutory minimums are zero.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Right.

          5                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Some of them are low.

          6  Some of them haven't been changed in decades.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I guess what I'm

          8  saying, as a matter -- to me, I think this is,

          9  you're getting at a kind of process issue here, if

         10  you believe that the minimum fines are too low, then

         11  you ought to come to the Council and suggest the

         12  minimum fine be raised, rather than do it

         13  administratively. If the statutory range is what it

         14  is, is zero to 10,000, then it seems to me

         15  administrative fairness suggests that the hearing

         16  officer have the opportunity to evaluate the facts

         17  and decide where in that statutory range is the

         18  appropriate violation. If you think the minimum is

         19  too low, then the way to correct that is to come in

         20  and say that there's -- and have the Council raise

         21  the minimum. Why is that not correct?

         22                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Well, I guess there are

         23  two parts to that. One is, is the statutory minimum

         24  too low, and the second is should the hearing

         25  officer have the discretion of giving any penalty
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          2  within the range.

          3                 We believed in some cases the

          4  statutory minimum is too low, and we believe that

          5  the Board has the authority to promulgate rules

          6  setting a penalty, a regulatory penalty.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Why isn't that

          8  curtailment of the legislative function?

          9                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Because the legislature

         10  has set a range and has given the authority to the

         11  Environmental Control Board.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: You've changed

         13  the range.

         14                 MR. FRIEDMAN: You have given us the

         15  range and within that range you have, our Charter

         16  provision gives us the authority to promulgate rules

         17  --

         18                 MR. MORAN: And impose a penalty.

         19                 MR. FRIEDMAN: -- And impose a

         20  penalty.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Right.

         22                 MR. FRIEDMAN: You're not imposing a

         23  penalty that's above or below the range.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I guess I feel

         25  like we're having maybe a semantic discussion, but
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          2  you're kind of using language a little bit unfairly.

          3                 The substance of it, right, is,

          4  should there be a general rule that has a range of

          5  possible penalties? And then do you want an

          6  individual hearing officer to have the opportunity

          7  to decide within that range where to go?

          8                 By the way, you might say, no, I

          9  don't want to have that second step, I just want to

         10  have a set penalty for the violation, period, and

         11  you don't want to have a range, which we could talk,

         12  you know, that's not a respectable position. I would

         13  disagree about the respectable position, but once

         14  you say we want to have a, we do want to have a

         15  range because not every instance or violation is the

         16  same, and then it's up to a hearing officer to

         17  determine where in that range that falls. Then the

         18  question is who sets the range, and that's a

         19  legislative function.

         20                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Well, I guess we're not

         21  saying that there needs to be a range. We're saying

         22  that there is a range that you have set, and that we

         23  have the authority by Charter --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Do you believe

         25  there should be a range? Or should it be a, you
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          2  know, one price for all?

          3                 MR. FRIEDMAN: If you amended the

          4  provisions and set a penalty that was not a range

          5  but would say X or Y or Z --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Right.

          7                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Then that's what we

          8  would have our hearing officers --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Plainly. You

         10  follow the law, so do I.

         11                 Do you think there should be a range?

         12  Do you think a system in which there's a statutory,

         13  or that there's a general rule with range, and then

         14  hearing officer has discretion within that range; is

         15  that a better system than one in which there is

         16  simply a set penalty?

         17                 MR. FRIEDMAN: I believe the system

         18  where there is a set penalty is the better system.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I see. Okay. So

         20  that's the difference in policy.

         21                 MR. MORAN: If you wouldn't mind me

         22  giving you an example?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Yes?

         24                 MR. MORAN: Within the Building Code

         25  violation, for example, 27-1025, there is a
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          2  provision for failure to provide an escape hatch,

          3  and the minimum penalty, or the penalty established

          4  by the Board, the minimum penalty is probably zero,

          5  and the maximum is 10,000.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: It would not at

          7  all shock me if there were provisions in the Code

          8  where the minimum penalty is too low. Rather, I

          9  would be shocked if there were no provisions in

         10  which the minimum penalty is too low because times

         11  change.

         12                 So, I'm prepared to assume that there

         13  are provisions in which the minimum penalty is too

         14  low.

         15                 The question is, given that a minimum

         16  penalty in a particular provision is too low, how

         17  should that be changed? Should it be done

         18  administratively, or should it be done

         19  legislatively, okay? That's the question. My view

         20  would be that's a legislative function.

         21                 I think also, and by the way, that's

         22  a different question from the question do you want

         23  to have a range at all? Or do you want to just have

         24  a set penalty? And I'm glad we identified a

         25  difference here. I think you absolutely, you know,
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          2  for some violations, 18-inch rule, that should be a

          3  set penalty. I'm not sure what role, you know, I'd

          4  be happy to have argument talked out of it, but it's

          5  hard for me to see how there's going to be such a

          6  difference in circumstances that would justify

          7  different penalties for that.

          8                 For illegal dumping, I would think

          9  you definitely want a range of penalties. There will

         10  be people who have -- you know, there will be

         11  egregious versions of that, and there will be, you

         12  know, minor but nonetheless punishable versions of

         13  that. That penalty, it seems to me, you want a

         14  range.

         15                 So, I guess I disagree with you if

         16  your position is in every case you want simply a set

         17  penalty. Definitely I think there are penalties

         18  where you want a range. So, once we agree -- once

         19  that's the policy, whether we agree or not, then the

         20  question is who should set that range. That's a

         21  legislative function, and it seems to me you have

         22  curtailed that legislative function by attempting to

         23  change the range administratively, and that's what

         24  Intro. 64 is trying to correct.

         25                 And, again, if the issue is, you
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          2  know, if you're coming to us and saying, no, it's

          3  not that we don't want to have a range, it's simply

          4  that the minimum of that range is too low, fair

          5  enough, but then the way to correct that I believe

          6  would be come into the Council with a proposal to do

          7  that.

          8                 I have no doubt a proposal along

          9  those lines would be greeted warmly and processed

         10  swiftly. That would be my point there.

         11                 And just to again get the mail-in

         12  thing off the table, it may be that we need to put

         13  into the code a mail-in price, or we need to give

         14  you the authority to set a mail-in price, and I

         15  could see doing that, but you don't need to have --

         16  having a mail-in price does not mean that you have

         17  to have a minimum penalty at hearing that is the

         18  same hearing, again, just to be clear on that.

         19                 On the per diem one, I'm trying to

         20  figure out what's at stake here between having

         21  full-time hearing officers and having per diems.

         22  Does the number of per diems employed very

         23  week-to-week? How many full-time hearing officers

         24  are there?

         25                 MR. MORAN: We have approximately 12
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          2  full-time hearing officers that work in the

          3  Adjudications Unit, and we have another aid who

          4  process appeals, appeals on paper.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay. So, 20 or

          6  -- and how many per diems?

          7                 MR. MORAN: We have a roster of 150

          8  that we draw from. On any given day we would have

          9  60, 70 or 80 who would come into our offices.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Is it the same

         11  week-by-week? In other words, this week there will

         12  be a total of X per diem hours, whatever that is, 70

         13  times, maybe they work an average of let's say eight

         14  hours a week. I'm just making that up. So, 560, if

         15  that were true it would be 560 per diem hours; are

         16  there 560 per diem hours this week, next week, the

         17  week after, the week after?

         18                 MR. MORAN: It varies from

         19  week-to-week, which is one of our issues when we

         20  talked about converting to Administrative Law

         21  Judges.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: That's what I was

         23  wondering, why does it very week-by-week? Is it

         24  based on caseload?

         25                 MR. MORAN: It is based on caseload.

                                                            91

          1  COMMITTEE ON SMALL BUSINESS

          2  Some months are slower than other months. Sometimes

          3  there's an enforcement initiative where we would

          4  have to gear up. Illegal conversion was a classic

          5  case where violations were issued in Queens

          6  initially then moved on to other boroughs where ECB

          7  had to gear up very quickly to have additional staff

          8  on site to hear cases.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay. So, this is

         10  something I would like to explore. I mean, it would

         11  seem to me, if there is a need for variability due

         12  to caseload, that would be legitimate. I'm curious

         13  empirically how often that's the case, but that's

         14  something I would like to explore with you.

         15                 Is there a difference in the process?

         16  In other words, what's at stake in terms of fair

         17  process? Is there any difference from the point of

         18  view of the private citizen coming before you,

         19  between the process with the per diem and the

         20  process with the full-time hearing officer? Is there

         21  a difference in the training they receive?

         22                 MR. MORAN: None.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay, so it's a

         24  question of if the argument is that it results in a

         25  more professionalized core in some way, the issue
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          2  is, is a per diem person who has been doing this on

          3  a per diem basis for three years kind of any less

          4  professionalized than a full-time? I guess that's a

          5  way to think about it.

          6                 MR. MORAN: I would say that they were

          7  not any less professional. They are attorneys.

          8  They're held at certain standards.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay. Okay, thank

         10  you. That's helpful.

         11                 And then on the specific process

         12  improvements, I would characterize them, proposed in

         13  66, I'm not sure you really addressed them. I guess

         14  you did a little bit, you said the discovery would

         15  impose burdens; can you spell that out for me? What

         16  are the burdens?

         17                 MR. MORAN: Well, it's really

         18  something we would prefer the issuing agency to

         19  address. Our current rules allow for discovery, so

         20  we currently have that provision.

         21                 I would be much more comfortable --

         22  the issuing agencies would have to address that

         23  concern.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: How does this

         25  change current practice then?
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          2                 MR. MORAN: It wouldn't. Discovery

          3  exists in our rules now. I can't see how the

          4  legislation would change that. Unless, of course, we

          5  changed our rules, and we don't anticipate doing

          6  that.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: So what this

          8  would do would codify rules that you have already?

          9                 And those rules, our policy analyst

         10  tells me that the reports that we've gotten is that

         11  those rules are not necessarily followed by the

         12  enforcing agencies. In other words, there are rules

         13  of, I guess the ECB, rather than the Department of

         14  Sanitation, so Department of Sanitation takes -- do

         15  you know, does the Department of Sanitation take the

         16  position that they are bound by these rules?

         17                 MR. MORAN: That's a difficult

         18  question.

         19                 MR. FRIEDMAN: I've never had that

         20  conversation with them. I assume they feel --

         21                 MR. MORAN: It might be interesting to

         22  talk about some of the classes of violations.

         23                 For example, the Department of

         24  Sanitation violations are typically just prima facie

         25  violations. You have an NOV issued and on the Notice
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          2  of Violation is a statement of the fact. It's

          3  typically not an action violation. It's an inaction

          4  violation. You observe a sidewalk that's dirty, the

          5  agent writes on the violation what they see at the

          6  time. There really isn't much more discovery beyond

          7  what's on the Notice of Violation. If a request is

          8  made by the respondent to have the issuing officer

          9  appear, then the ALJ would consider that. The

         10  Building Code violations might be a little bit more

         11  complex, there might be photographs and things like

         12  that, but the discovery process exists in our rules.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And do you know

         14  what the Department of Buildings, what their

         15  position is on discovery?

         16                 MR. MORAN: Again, we haven't had a

         17  discussion with them on it.

         18                 MR. FRIEDMAN: We can get back to you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay.

         20                 Because I am looking at some

         21  testimony from a hearing, January 2005 on the

         22  previous version of this, and the testimony is from

         23  people who had been issued Buildings Code violations

         24  and their testimony was that they were unable to get

         25  discovery. So, it seems to me, I guess can we agree,
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          2  we played this game earlier today, if the Buildings

          3  Department took the position that it is not bound by

          4  the ECB rule on discovery, would you then agree

          5  there is a need to codify it?

          6                 MR. FRIEDMAN: We would like to talk

          7  with them first.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Talk with them

          9  further? Yes, I like that game, though.

         10                 Okay, just on the curtailment issue

         11  that you raised, and, again, it's ironic, because I

         12  do think actually what you're doing with the minimum

         13  fines really is curtailment of legislative

         14  authority. But you seem that you're taking the

         15  position here that 66 curtails administrative

         16  authority, which is -- I think that position is kind

         17  of beneath you. I mean, I don't think that you --

         18  no, no, because it can't be the case that the

         19  Legislature cannot prescribe procedures for fair

         20  adjudication; is that the position? What's the

         21  curtailment argument here?

         22                 MR. FRIEDMAN: As much as I would like

         23  to speak for the Law Department, I'm not speaking

         24  for the Law Department now.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay.
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          2                 MR. FRIEDMAN: I believe that the

          3  curtailment argument is that the Mayor appoints the

          4  members of the Board. You are taking away from the

          5  members of the Board the authority to promulgate

          6  rules that set penalty schedules, which they now

          7  have under the Charter.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Well, first of

          9  all, you're talking about the 64 one, I think.

         10                 MR. FRIEDMAN: We'll have to speak to

         11  the Law Department about that. We'll get back to you

         12  on that. I'm sorry.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay.

         14                 MR. FRIEDMAN: I think that was an old

         15  argument.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Yes.

         17                 MR. FRIEDMAN: As I said before, I

         18  hate to speak for the Law Department. We will get

         19  back to you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I guess I would

         21  request that if you're going to really press this

         22  curtailment argument, I'd like to see it spelled out

         23  in writing, and not simply asserted like this.

         24                 MR. FRIEDMAN: That's fair.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay.
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          2                 Oh, yeah, on the other provision,

          3  other than discovery, was the interpreter, which the

          4  requirement that people have the opportunity to have

          5  interpreters; I don't think you addressed that

          6  earlier today.

          7                 MR. FRIEDMAN: We did not address it

          8  we do give people the opportunity to get

          9  interpreters.

         10                 MR. MORAN: And we don't proceed with

         11  a hearing if it's clear that the respondent does not

         12  understand English.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: So did this

         14  provision change?

         15                 MR. FRIEDMAN: The only part of the

         16  provision that we have a difficult time

         17  understanding is the register of --

         18                 MR. MORAN: The register list of --

         19                 MR. FRIEDMAN: The register --

         20                 MR. MORAN: Sorry, I'll get this out

         21  eventually. The registered list of interpreters,

         22  because we're not aware of one. We don't know who we

         23  would call, in other words, I guess.

         24                 Other than that, there would be no

         25  problem with it.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay. Okay, I

          3  guess the principle of the thing is that if somebody

          4  is appearing before you, they need an interpreter to

          5  understand the proceedings, they absolutely have the

          6  right to do that?

          7                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Yes.

          8                 MR. MORAN: Correct. Typically what

          9  happens is if a respondent comes to ECB and it

         10  appears that they might have a language barrier,

         11  we'll ask in the waiting room if anyone wants to

         12  help or assist, and if we can't find someone, then

         13  we will tell the respondent to please come back with

         14  an interpreter and we'll reschedule the case for

         15  them.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay, thank you.

         17                 Council Member Mealy.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Thank you,

         19  Chair, but that was my question. Thank you. And glad

         20  to see you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay, Council

         22  Member Gennaro, you have additional questions?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Thank you,

         24  Mr. Chairman, for your excellent line of

         25  questioning. I greatly appreciate your insights. And
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          2  just to follow up on some of the questions that were

          3  posed by the Chairman, or the things that will be

          4  discussed during this line of questioning, it has

          5  been asserted many times during your appearance here

          6  today that somehow, you know, these bills sort of

          7  take away the right of ECB to create penalty and

          8  schedules, and that is not the intent of the bills.

          9  It's not what we want to do. We think there should

         10  be, you know, guidelines for the hearing officers

         11  but we just want all of the penalties on the table.

         12  And, so, you know, constant assertion for taking

         13  away your ability to create schedules just isn't

         14  true, or that's not what we're doing here. And you

         15  can respond or not respond, I just want to get that

         16  on the record. That's not what we're doing here.

         17                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Right --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Go ahead, say

         19  it.

         20                 MR. FRIEDMAN: That is not our reading

         21  of the bills.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Okay, that's

         23  fine. We can agree to disagree on that, but, I mean,

         24  there's nothing that we're doing here that's taking

         25  away your ability to do schedules.
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          2                 Also, with regard to ranges, which

          3  have been discussed here several times during

          4  today's proceeding, when you talk about schedules

          5  for, when you talk about ranges, are these the

          6  ranges that were sort of set out by statute, by the

          7  act of the Legislature in setting these up, so these

          8  are the ranges that you're talking about, the ranges

          9  that were -- when you talk about first violation,

         10  second violation, third violation, so these are the

         11  ranges that had been sort of put forth by the

         12  Legislature.

         13                 These are the --

         14                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Correct. The local laws

         15  set forth a range between X and Y and the Board has

         16  --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: No, I'm

         18  talking about for first violation, second violation,

         19  third violation, like that kind of thing.

         20                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Okay.

         22                 MR. FRIEDMAN: I mean, there is a

         23  range set forth and within that range there have

         24  been --

         25                 MR. MORAN: Penalties were
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          2  established.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Right.

          4                 Does the Board, in consultation with

          5  agencies, create a penalty structure for first,

          6  second and third violations that were not sort of

          7  set out by the Legislature in the statute?

          8                 MR. MORAN: Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Is that

         10  something that happens?

         11                 MR. MORAN: We believe the answer is

         12  no, we abide by what the Legislature of the Council

         13  establishes is the penalty.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: So, it

         15  wouldn't be the practice that the Board in

         16  consultation with the agencies that write

         17  violations, comes up with a schedule for first

         18  violation, second violation, third and subsequent

         19  violations and creates that.

         20                 MR. MORAN: A typical law has a

         21  minimum and a maximum. In some instances there are

         22  multiple offense schedules penalties that establish

         23  and --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: By law.

         25                 MR. MORAN: By law.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Right.

          3                 MR. MORAN: And in some instances it

          4  may be open-ended. I believe, I haven't looked at

          5  the food vendor. In the general vendor violations

          6  that establishes a minimum between, I believe it's

          7  25 and a thousand. And ECB in this instance, in

          8  conjunction with requests from the issuing agencies

          9  and after having a public hearing, established

         10  penalties for first, second, third, fourth, fifth,

         11  and sixth offenses.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: So that was

         13  something that was done not as an act of the

         14  Legislature set into law, but something was done

         15  between ECB and the agency that writes the

         16  violations, the first, second, third --

         17                 MR. MORAN: Correct. Because the

         18  legislation itself was silent as to what would be

         19  the first, second, third, fourth, fifth, sixth

         20  penalty. As I recollect, I haven't looked at the

         21  legislation.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: And the

         23  legislation just said that there was a range between

         24  some low number and some higher number?

         25                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Correct.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: And that the

          3  ECB and the agencies figured out what would be

          4  appropriate for first penalty, second penalty, third

          5  penalty, fourth penalty.

          6                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Correct.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: And the

          8  legislature didn't do that?

          9                 MR. MORAN: Correct. The legislature

         10  was silent. They said it would be multiple offense

         11  schedules, multiple offense penalties.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Thank you.

         13                 Are there any violations where the

         14  only penalty the ECB hearing officers may impose is

         15  the maximum? Does that happen?

         16                 MR. MORAN: The recycling penalties

         17  have one penalty, $25 for a first offense, and a

         18  second offense would be $50 and it goes on from

         19  there, I believe. I didn't look at the statute

         20  before I came here.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Okay. Thank

         22  you. Let me see if I have anything.

         23                 Also, I believe that with regard to

         24  discovery, something that was just discussed, that

         25  the bill calls upon the agency, of course, to
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          2  produce those documents, not calling upon the ECB to

          3  produce documents, it's the agency that has to do

          4  that, so the onus is on the agency. That's

          5  understood.

          6                 MR. MORAN: Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Okay.

          8                 And to follow-up on something that

          9  the Chairman asked with regard to the need to come

         10  back to the Legislature to sort of elevate those

         11  sort of base fines that seem inappropriate in 2006,

         12  has ECB, either on its own or in consultation with

         13  the agencies that write violations, ever endeavor to

         14  come up with a comprehensive package of minimum

         15  fines that it believes needed to be increased; is

         16  there an endeavor to do that?

         17                 MR. MORAN: It's a difficult question

         18  for ECB since we are not an enforcement agency. We

         19  don't employ anyone who would issue the violations.

         20                 We could certainly provide data to

         21  the Department of Sanitation or any other agency as

         22  to the effectiveness of the current penalties, but

         23  we have not had discussions with them about the

         24  appropriateness of the penalties under the law.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: But you've
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          2  had discussions to figure out what the sort of new

          3  minimum should be, which is kind of tantamount to

          4  having the discussion on some levels.

          5                 MR. FRIEDMAN: We have had discussions

          6  when the agency comes in and makes a proposal to the

          7  Board saying that we would like to adopt, we would

          8  like the Board to adopt and promulgate a penalty

          9  within their range.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Okay.

         11                 Well, I want to thank the witnesses

         12  for their cooperation. I don't want to act as

         13  Chairman or anything, but it concludes my

         14  questioning and I want to thank the witnesses for

         15  their comprehensive answers to my questions.

         16                 And thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you.

         18                 Okay, well, just two last points. One

         19  is on the mail-in, and just as I'm thinking more

         20  about it, it seems to me if there are -- for

         21  violations like 18 inch, like recycling where

         22  there's not -- we don't envision a range of severity

         23  in the violating conduct, then you just what to have

         24  a single penalty fine.

         25                 Things where there is a range of
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          2  conduct, though, a mail-in penalty would kind of

          3  encourage the worst violators to mail-in, would it

          4  not? In other words --

          5                 MR. MORAN: Not necessarily. For

          6  example, if you take a Building Code violation, what

          7  happens is a respondent is given an opportunity for

          8  a first offense to correct the condition prior to a

          9  hearing. For some reason they can't do that. But

         10  they might be interested in paying a mail-in penalty

         11  to avoid an ECB hearing so they could get additional

         12  time to correct the violation.

         13                 So, in that instance I don't think

         14  you're rewarding anyone, you're just saying, all

         15  right, I recognize the world in which we live in,

         16  it's going to take more time to correct the

         17  violation. I will admit it, but just give me

         18  additional time to correct the violation.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Right, okay.

         20                 All right, and if I understand it,

         21  it's something like 37 percent of violations are --

         22  I was looking for it, I had that number here, are

         23  dismissed; and I'm told, is this correct, that those

         24  are largely because there is a defect in the

         25  summons, rather than a kind of factual determination
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          2  that the conduct didn't merit penalty; is that the

          3  case?

          4                 MR. MORAN: No, that is not the case.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: It's mostly a

          6  factual determination?

          7                 MR. MORAN: It's mostly an issue of

          8  credibility in a factual case.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And is there an

         10  opportunity to -- what percent would you say are

         11  dismissed because of defect roughly? Is it ten, you

         12  know, five, ten, 15?

         13                 MR. MORAN: Just give me one moment.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay.

         15                 MR. MORAN: I have for a defective

         16  notice of violation in the past fiscal year 6,400 --

         17  I mean in this fiscal year to date, I'm sorry, 6,476

         18  violations were issued -- I mean, were dismissed

         19  because of a defective NOV.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I'm sorry,

         21  six-thousand?

         22                 MR. MORAN: Four-hundred and

         23  seventy-six.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And that's of how

         25  many hearings?
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          2                 MR. MORAN: One-hundred and

          3  eighty-thousand.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay.

          5                 MR. MORAN: Would be full fiscal year.

          6  I didn't pro rate this out.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Somewhere around

          8  three percent, or maybe whatever, three to five

          9  percent.

         10                 MR. MORAN: I can do the math. You're

         11  quicker than I am.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I'm quicker but

         13  probably wronger.

         14                 Okay, because my question was going

         15  to be whether there ought to be an opportunity for

         16  people to contest the sufficiency of the summons in

         17  writing, or by e-mail even, rather, you know, to

         18  avoid them having to come down in person. If it's

         19  three to five percent it's not -- you know, if it

         20  was 20 percent I would say then you absolutely need

         21  to do that. If it's three to five percent, it's kind

         22  of on the margins as to whether you need to do that.

         23  But the people ought to have, you know, 6,000,

         24  that's really on the line as to whether you need to

         25  create a whole process for it. But --
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          2                 MR. MORAN: Well, we actually do have

          3  an adjudication by mail unit, which handles a large

          4  number of violations specific to the mainly factual

          5  issues, Sanitation Department violations.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay.

          7                 Well, thank you. Listen, I thank you

          8  very much for your testimony. I will say this, it is

          9  my intention, as I said at the outset to, proceed in

         10  fairly short order to a meeting of the Committee to

         11  vote on these bills. So, what I would like is the

         12  opportunity to meet and go over what I think are

         13  outstanding issues sooner rather than later. And in

         14  particular, on the issue of setting a minimum find,

         15  I will just repeat my position, which may be

         16  different from yours, that that is a legislative

         17  function.

         18                 So, I do want to see Intro. 64 move

         19  ahead. If there are places where you think the

         20  minimum penalty is too low, then I think we ought to

         21  take your suggestions there and act on those and

         22  increase them where necessary.

         23                 But that's the proper way to do it

         24  rather than, you know, administratively.

         25                 So, what I would envision is that we
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          2  can go over, you know, violation by violation, to

          3  places where your statutory minimum differs from

          4  rather where your kind of administratively set

          5  minimum differs from the statutory minimum, and if

          6  those are things where you really believe the

          7  statute needs to be adjusted, then we should proceed

          8  to do that. So, that's what I would suggest.

          9                 I want to thank you very much for

         10  your testimony.

         11                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Thank you. And we look

         12  forward to sitting down with you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And our next two

         14  witnesses are Robert Bookman and Richard Lipsky. And

         15  I would say, I know, to everyone who has been here

         16  this morning, I know this hearing has gone a really

         17  considerable length. The bills before us are lengthy

         18  and complicated, and I think they merit this length

         19  of discussion. So, I appreciate your patience in

         20  letting the Committee explore the questions with the

         21  Administration witnesses.

         22                 And please proceed in whatever order

         23  you prefer.

         24                 MR. BOOKMAN: Good morning. My name is

         25  Robert Bookman. I am appearing today in support of
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          2  Intro. 64-A and 66-A, as a representative of a

          3  number of business groups, including the 1,000

          4  member New York City Chapter of the New York State

          5  Restaurant Association, the New York City Nightlife

          6  Association, the New York City Newsstand Operators

          7  Association, as well as the attorney for many

          8  individual small mom and pop business owners.

          9                 The message I have been asked to

         10  convey is simple and straight forward. The small

         11  business community of New York City, the lifeblood

         12  of our neighborhoods, is supported in these bills.

         13                 Intro. 64-A is perhaps the most

         14  significant piece of legislation in the group of

         15  bills being considered today, and that it clarifies

         16  once and for all that the Council makes the laws and

         17  it is the job of the administrative agencies to

         18  carry out those laws. This basic civics lesson seems

         19  to have been lost by the ECB.

         20                 As any law student who has taken a

         21  course in administrative law can tell you, an agency

         22  cannot promulgate regulations, which either

         23  contradict the authorizing law or exceed the scope

         24  of the law. Yet, that is exactly what ECB has done

         25  by clear statements from this Council, that they
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          2  were exceeding their authority prior to them doing

          3  it.

          4                 When this Council passes a law with a

          5  range of fines, the full range of fines of that law

          6  just be available to the administrative judge when

          7  the case is decided. ECB has no right to reduce that

          8  range.

          9                 Determining the appropriate fine,

         10  taking all the circumstances into consideration is

         11  often the entire purpose of the hearing.

         12                 This intro makes it clear that the

         13  laws passed by the Council is supreme as it must be.

         14                 Let me just digress now in some of

         15  the comments that ECB made in support of their

         16  position of the range in penalties.

         17                 Frankly, their argument that if a

         18  full range of penalties is not available, somehow

         19  there would be an inconsistency in their legal

         20  determination process and the wrong message would go

         21  out to the public, would be laughable if not so

         22  seriously made here.

         23                 Their argument is bogus because they

         24  allow for a range of penalties. They have not taken

         25  away the ability of ALJs to institute a range of
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          2  penalties. They have just increased a minimum in

          3  that range. So, if they were arguing ranges are bad

          4  and we want to set fines in every circumstance,

          5  while it's an argument I would disagree with, at

          6  least it's a consistent legal argument. For them to

          7  say we are opposed to a range of penalties unless

          8  it's our range of penalties simply makes it

          9  unlawful.

         10                 As I said, the only function at some

         11  of these hearings is to argue for mitigation, you

         12  know, for a particular penalty, for a particular set

         13  of circumstances, that's what the judge is there

         14  for.

         15                 On numerous occasions, I have

         16  litigated cases before the ECB which we have

         17  presented compelling mitigation circumstances for a

         18  particular business, a mom and pop recent immigrant,

         19  first-time violation, you know, first business, what

         20  have you, and the judge in their written decision

         21  says, while guilty, based on the arguments made, I

         22  hereby impose the minimum penalty provided by law.

         23  Except it's not the minimum penalty provided by law,

         24  it's the minimum penalty as a per diem hearing

         25  officer that the ECB supervisors have instructed
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          2  them is the minimum penalty. And that is the whole

          3  point of this corrective litigation.

          4                 By the way, even when a range of

          5  penalties sometimes is zero to whatever, there are

          6  circumstances, there are sometimes circumstances

          7  where though found guilty technically of a

          8  violation, a judge should have the authority to

          9  oppose a zero penalty, though guilty for the first

         10  time. You are still found guilty. Many of the

         11  statutes provide an escalation mechanism, so there

         12  has been consequences of being found guilty the

         13  first time, but sometimes there are compelling

         14  circumstances. Just as in criminal court, when

         15  sometimes a person is found guilty but no penalty or

         16  sentence is suspended, that's what we have judges

         17  for, and that's what they should be there for.

         18                 I don't understand their curtailment

         19  argument, frankly. I'm an attorney in the

         20  administrative law area, 25 years of at least some

         21  respect and some quarters of the City of New York. I

         22  have no clue what they are talking about, that how

         23  you are curtailing their authority by setting the

         24  laws.

         25                 I guess if you carry that argument to
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          2  the logical or illogical extreme, they would argue

          3  that if they repeal the law, you would be curtailing

          4  their ability to enforce that law. I guess that's

          5  true, that's why we have legislative bodies, to

          6  decide what the laws are.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Right. No, I was

          8  going to ask that same question. You know, if you

          9  replace the statutory range with a signal set

         10  penalty, or if you change the single set penalty to

         11  a range, I agree with that.

         12                 MR. BOOKMAN: Well, there are other

         13  bills considered here today to take out a law. Is

         14  that a curtailment? I suppose it is, but is it an

         15  unlawful curtailment? Of course that. That's the

         16  whole point of having a legislative body.

         17                 MR. LIPSKY: Well, it's also, Mr.

         18  Chairman, that if you look at the curtailment

         19  argument, it's an argument in favor of discretion

         20  for the commissioners, and then they make the 180

         21  degree turn and argue against discretion for the

         22  hearing officers.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I mean, indeed,

         24  there's a body of constitutional law that goes the

         25  other way saying that delegation of too much
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          2  discretion is unconstitutional and vagueness, which

          3  I wouldn't want to see invoked here either, but with

          4  the argument being made by the Administration, which

          5  was saying the things that the courts might find

          6  unconstitutionally vague are in fact compelled.

          7                 MR. BOOKMAN: In fact, the real answer

          8  to all of this is to really discuss Intro. 66-A,

          9  which goes a long way to guarantee that hearings at

         10  ECB are not only fair, but meet minimum standards of

         11  due process, and equally important, will assure to

         12  the public the appearance of fairness.

         13                 ECB handles so many cases, it is now

         14  one of the largest court systems in the country.

         15  Yet, the protections we all expect in our court

         16  systems often sadly do not exist at ECB and this

         17  bill will help correct that.

         18                 We have gone historically from a

         19  situation where virtually all administrative code

         20  violations were in Criminal Court summonses and

         21  heard in special parts in Criminal Court. Given that

         22  they were technically Criminal Court, a full panoply

         23  of due process, you know, rights attached to those

         24  situations.

         25                 Now, admittedly, the bulk of these
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          2  types of Administrative Code violations didn't

          3  belong in Criminal Court, so here in this City and

          4  municipalities and states around the country, over

          5  the last 20 or 30 years or more there's been a trend

          6  to take these things out of the regular court system

          7  with the need for attorneys and, you know, and all

          8  the formalities of a legal court system, and put

          9  them in an administrative tribunal.

         10                 But we have gone to the other extreme

         11  and not assured certain standards of due process,

         12  which are necessary.

         13                 Your Intro. 66-A attacks

         14  appropriately, and corrects appropriately some of

         15  the leading problems that people complain about who

         16  appear at ECB on a regular basis, not the least

         17  important of which is not to have 70 to 80 per diem

         18  officers, you know, out of a pool of 100 or so, and

         19  only have 12 full-time civil service people doing

         20  hearings, but to have some sort of protection for

         21  their ALJs and your protection is an excellent one

         22  where they know they have a term and they could use

         23  the discretion that the law provides to them without

         24  fear of not being called back in that pool of 160 to

         25  180 where they pick 60 to 80, you know, every week.
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          2  Clearly the ALJs, and I've spoken to many of them,

          3  off the record, of course, are concerned that if

          4  they don't tow the line they will not get called

          5  back.

          6                 Frankly, if you look at who the per

          7  diem people are, by the nature of it, these are

          8  people who need the income. It's not big dollars, so

          9  they're either semi-retired, they're starting out in

         10  their legal practice, and, you know, they're there

         11  because they need that per diem, and they want to

         12  make sure that they are called back.

         13                 To say that there is no difference

         14  between full-time civil service protected

         15  administrative law judges, and what they have is to

         16  effectively say that there is no reason to have a

         17  civil service system, because it is meaningless.

         18                 I don't believe that. Having been a

         19  formal civil servant, an attorney, and a Director of

         20  Adjudication of an administrative agency's division,

         21  I can assure you that that civil service protection

         22  is essential for the ALJs and others who are faced

         23  with a constant policy pressure from above to tow

         24  the line from enforcement to adjudication. And we

         25  have situations where discretion has clearly been
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          2  taken out of the hands of enforcement agents, where

          3  you could be three inches over a line, and they are

          4  now compelled to give you a violation.  To take the

          5  discretion also out of the judges, we might as well,

          6  you know, just have a series of computers where you

          7  got the violation and therefore you're guilty and

          8  this is what your penalty is and pay it. You know,

          9  why have an adjudicatory system if there's no

         10  discretion.

         11                 The need for discovery, as stated

         12  here previously, they are a court system which does

         13  have many different agencies, as the enforcers and

         14  discovery rights are spotty at best. They do nothing

         15  to facilitate that discovery process, some agencies

         16  are better than others in responding to that

         17  discovery process, but more often than not the

         18  respondent is punished by asking for discovery

         19  because what happens is you wind up waiting there

         20  for a couple of hours to be called. You go in, you

         21  were told you had asked for discovery, and all that

         22  results in is, oh, okay, you have to come back

         23  another time then. Or you didn't tell us you asked

         24  for the enforcing officer to be here.

         25                 I've got news for you, I never asked
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          2  for the enforcing officer to be there. It's rarely

          3  to my advantage, but I stopped working for the City

          4  government 20 years ago. I don't control how the

          5  City government prosecutes its cases. That's their

          6  job. If they choose to set a hearing date and not

          7  come with their witness, that's their decision to

          8  make. I'm there, and I'm ready for a hearing. There

          9  is no grounds to allow the system to continue, in

         10  which you are pressured to show up and plead guilty,

         11  otherwise you have to come back because they now

         12  decide that you, God forbid, have come and pled not

         13  guilty and they need their witness, which they not

         14  accidentally didn't bring, but as a matter of policy

         15  do not bring. It's not that somebody got sick and is

         16  not here that day, or got called out on an

         17  emergency, they don't bring their witnesses agency

         18  after agency to the hearings time that they

         19  scheduled.

         20                 So, what you're forced to do is do I

         21  take a second half a day out from work, from my

         22  business, or pay a lawyer to come back a second time

         23  just to get the hearing that I was entitled to get

         24  today, and your law goes and protects and changes

         25  that as well and is critical.
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          2                 And as far as the interpreters go, to

          3  sit at ECB for a day is to see people come out, ALJs

          4  on a constant basis and say does anybody here speak

          5  the following language? If so, please come in and

          6  interpret and your reward is we'll move your case up

          7  faster. I swear, I wish I could interpret this to

          8  get my case moved up faster and get out of there.

          9                 I think the City of New York could do

         10  better, quite frankly, than a system such as that.

         11  And while it is true, if the person is apparently

         12  clueless as to what's going on, that they will tell

         13  them to come back with an interpreter once again.

         14  The message is either explicitly or subliminally

         15  told to you; however, if you want to just plead

         16  guilty today and pay what we consider to be the

         17  minimum fine, then you don't have to come back.

         18                 So, if this is what is satisfactory

         19  for the largest court system in the City of New

         20  York, then I'm frankly quite disappointed.

         21                 The small business community urges

         22  passage of these very important pieces of

         23  legislation. Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you. Thank

         25  you.
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          2                 Mr. Lipsky.

          3                 MR. LIPSKY: Yes. Thank you, Mr.

          4  Chairman. I'm reminded of your thought of being Jaja

          5  Gabor's seventh husband, I know what to do, but how

          6  do you make it interesting? That's following Rob's

          7  testimony.

          8                 I would agree with everything Rob

          9  said. I would emphasize, and we're in support of

         10  this legislation, we thank Councilman Gennaro for

         11  introducing it in particular. The one thing that has

         12  been fair about the adjudication process has been

         13  the discretion. That's the one thing that they want

         14  to eliminate in this, and the idea that, it's quite

         15  an astounding one, that somehow by allowing for

         16  discretion you're going to get a perception of

         17  unfairness at ECB greater than the one that exists

         18  today is an astounding one, because there is no

         19  retailer in the City of New York, and I represent

         20  the Neighborhood Retail Alliance, which is

         21  predominantly supermarkets, bodegas and green

         22  groceries, there is no perception of fairness in the

         23  entire process, except for the discretion that

         24  sometimes is allowed.

         25                 I would leave you with a couple of
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          2  examples, because the thing that we're concerned

          3  about, Council members, is that the codes themselves

          4  are unfair, the enforcement process is unfair, let's

          5  make sure in that case that the adjudication process

          6  gives us some of the due process protections under

          7  the regular court system. We have a situation, one

          8  of the classic examples, one of my green grocers got

          9  fined, there's a five foot stoopline stand law, and

         10  the officer fined the green grocer $2,000 for having

         11  the watermelon actually extended over the five foot

         12  line. The stoop stand was five feet, but the

         13  watermelon extended, and he got a $2,000 fine. We

         14  are constantly confronting those kinds of

         15  situations, which there is no direct correlation

         16  between the protection of the public interest and

         17  the nature of the code or the nature of the

         18  enforcement system.

         19                 So, what we're asking for here is to

         20  give the retailers an opportunity to get fairness in

         21  the process, and I was interested in hearing the

         22  Commissioner argue, in kind of a bureaucratic

         23  rationality, he was talking about effective

         24  enforcement tools, that when you have a higher

         25  minimum, that doesn't mean it's fair. And, yes, it
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          2  is effective as an enforcement tool, but is it

          3  effective at getting justice for the retailer who is

          4  struggling to make ends meet as it is, and the

          5  retailers have been struggling, as you fellows know,

          6  over the last three or four years. And when the City

          7  has problems, they increase the commercial real

          8  estate tax by 25 percent, 20, 25 percent, and that's

          9  passed onto the retailers, and the City has a budget

         10  gap, enforcement seems to increase. So, all of those

         11  things come to play here. Give us the opportunity,

         12  which these bills do to allow for greater

         13  flexibility, greater fairness, and civil service

         14  protection for the hearing officer so that they feel

         15  a little bit of insolation from the political

         16  pressures that are inevitable.

         17                 Thank you very much.

         18                 MR. BOOKMAN: One thing I just wanted

         19  to quickly add.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Very quickly.

         21                 MR. BOOKMAN: ECB takes in about $90

         22  million a year in fines, and that's just ECB. That's

         23  not the Health Department Adjudication, Consumer

         24  Affairs, the Criminal Court that still handles a

         25  certain number of these. You know, Councilman
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          2  Gennaro's Committee just passed a new Noise Code,

          3  which is what should be a standard procedure, but is

          4  in fact for New York City Revolutionary, and that is

          5  on a first-time violation in some of these code

          6  sections, the goal is compliance, not punishment.

          7  And that if the business shows within a certain

          8  period of time that they have corrected the

          9  violation, either by, you know, simply correcting it

         10  or by paying a certain amount of money in

         11  improvements to correct it, then there would be no

         12  fine.

         13                 That's what we should be, as a

         14  Council, concerned about, is how do we help our

         15  businesses come into compliance, not how much can we

         16  take out of them every year in fines?

         17                 MR. LIPSKY: Particularly because a

         18  lot of folks are new immigrants, they don't

         19  understand the code, it's not that they're willfully

         20  violating it.

         21                 There are people who have been in

         22  business for 30 years who are new immigrants and

         23  don't understand the code.

         24                 So, if there is a violation that can

         25  be curable, make the second penalty, the higher
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          2  penalty, because then it would be seen as willful.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay. Thank you.

          4                 Just two quick questions. One is, do

          5  you think there are places where the minimum ought

          6  to be raised? In other words, if there are -- you

          7  heard what I said to the Administration folks, if

          8  their argument is the minimum is too low for some

          9  violations, then come in and say that and let's

         10  argue it, you know, on the merits. Are you open to

         11  that discussion?

         12                 MR. BOOKMAN: I'm open to that

         13  discussion, but the answer is, frankly, I don't

         14  know. When they promulgated by regulations the

         15  increase in the minimums, it was about 38-page book

         16  thick of various code sections that are adjudicated

         17  at ECB. I frankly am not familiar with all of them.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay.

         19                 MR. BOOKMAN: As a matter of

         20  principle, I could tell you, as I said, you know,

         21  providing for a range with a minimum doesn't mean

         22  you're going to get that minimum, as long as the

         23  judge has the discretion.

         24                 So, I don't see the problem with

         25  having a $50 minimum that was passed 20 years ago,

                                                            127

          1  COMMITTEE ON SMALL BUSINESS

          2  as long as the judge feels that is too low for this

          3  particular case on a first time. But I can't, I

          4  wouldn't be surprised if there are some, which you

          5  know, you could argue that it should be increased.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay.

          7                 And then here is my question, on 64,

          8  where does it go from here? Let's say the Council

          9  were to pass it, the Administration, I'm just

         10  playing it out, the Administration takes a position,

         11  this is, you know, either they take the position

         12  it's unenforceable, or rather than have an

         13  administrative rule, they send a memo to the hearing

         14  officers, saying here is what we expect the minimum

         15  fines, you know, here is our policy as to what the

         16  fines should be.

         17                 Then you go to court.

         18                 MR. BOOKMAN: Well, there are groups

         19  that already went to court because they did the

         20  latter. They sent around memos, and people went to

         21  court and the courts have already ruled that was

         22  unlawful.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I see.

         24                 MR. BOOKMAN: That there had to be, at

         25  a minimum, a regulatory promulgation process.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay.

          3                 MR. BOOKMAN: So, I think, you know,

          4  at this stage if the Council clarifies the law, they

          5  certainly, unless they want to be in violation of

          6  court decisions already, they couldn't do it by

          7  memo.

          8                 Whether they want to have a war with

          9  the Council as to who passes laws or not, would

         10  remain to be seen, and whether the courts would

         11  ultimately have to decide that would remain to be

         12  seen.

         13                 You know, I think a clear statement

         14  by the Council that we pass the laws and you enforce

         15  it I think would have to be obeyed.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: All right, thank

         17  you.

         18                 Council Member Gennaro.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Thank you,

         20  Mr. Chairman. I just wanted to thank both of the

         21  witnesses for their testimony and I'm sensitive to

         22  the needs of local business owners. My father ran a

         23  local business for 40 years, and put the clothes on

         24  my back, food on the table, my tuition and so on,

         25  and just reiterating what we started at the
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          2  beginning of the hearing, that we're just talking

          3  about basic fairness, and this is all we seek to do

          4  in these bills. And your clients, I've come to know

          5  many of them, these aren't particularly wealthy

          6  people, who are just trying to make a living, trying

          7  to, you know, be good shop keepers and run a

          8  business, and I do recognize that.

          9                 Just with regard to, not playing

         10  devil's advocate or whatever, but the statement that

         11  was made by the Administration, witnesses with

         12  respect to the 37 percent dismissal rate, that was

         13  what they sort of touted that, you know, we do use

         14  judicial discretion, we do consider the facts, and,

         15  you know, when appropriate we do dismiss cases for

         16  lack of evidence, and that's how we, you know,

         17  that's how we give people their due process, and

         18  what's your response to that?

         19                 MR. BOOKMAN: Well, I get 100 percent

         20  of my cases dismissed, so I'm shocked at a rate of

         21  only 37 percent.

         22                 No, well, my response is, they're

         23  saying, if discretion is important for the triers of

         24  fact, that they're saying there should be no

         25  discretion for the triers when imposing penalties,
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          2  it just seems to be an inconsistent argument.

          3                 If you trust a judge, one judge to

          4  dismiss a case and another judge not to, well, then

          5  that's not inconsistency, that's a consistent

          6  adjudication of the law, and part of that consistent

          7  adjudication of the law is to take all the facts and

          8  circumstances and determine what the appropriate

          9  penalty is.

         10                 I don't understand why they think

         11  discretion is okay in one-half of the scenario but

         12  not the other half.

         13                 MR. LIPSKY: They need the money.

         14                 MR. BOOKMAN: Did you want to hear

         15  testimony on 349-A by the way?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Well, I think not

         17  this time because we're running up against our time

         18  limit here. So, I want to thank you and I look

         19  forward to working with you on these bills.

         20                 MR. LIPSKY: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: We have two

         22  additional panels that we're going to try and hear

         23  from very quickly, and let me first call up first

         24  James Williams, and a group of folks with him

         25  representing the street vendor project, and also Mr.
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          2  Or Ms. Laskary, also representing a street vendor.

          3  And, again, I apologize if I'm mispronouncing your

          4  name.

          5                 MR. BASINSKI: Thank you very much. My

          6  name is Sean Basinski. I'm the Director of the

          7  Street Vendor Project, of the Urban Justice Center.

          8  We are a membership-based organization of almost 500

          9  New York City Street vendors of very diverse

         10  backgrounds, of food vendors, merchandise vendors,

         11  people who sell books and art all across the five

         12  boroughs. And I actually have -- thank you for

         13  having us here by the way. My job is mostly going to

         14  be to introduce our speakers. I also have some

         15  prepared written testimony that I can hand to you. I

         16  don't think I need to read that.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Great.

         18                 MR. BASINSKI: Some of the points will

         19  come up and we also have a special guest who came up

         20  from Philadelphia, who we hope if we get into the

         21  issue of interpretation, will be allowed to speak

         22  briefly, because he's an expert on that particular

         23  subject matter, and I think that's something there

         24  was a misunderstanding about, and so hopefully we

         25  can get to that, if necessary.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay, please

          3  proceed.

          4                 MR. BASINSKI: Thank you. First of

          5  all, I would like to introduce -- by the way, we

          6  have four of our Board members up here today, three

          7  of them are going to speak. The first person, his

          8  name is Bi Musa (phonetic). He's going to speak

          9  about the need for interpreters at ECB. Musa.

         10                 MR. MUSA: Hi. Good afternoon,

         11  everybody. My name is Bi Musa. I'm working for 49

         12  and Sixth Avenue, and I'm leaving for Harlem, 127

         13  and Morningside. I'm in this job from nine years

         14  ago. I'm here today to ask you, the Council, what

         15  happened to the peddler guy to selling the

         16  merchandise outside.

         17                 For example, I have a problem of one

         18  police officer. I see the weather channel, they say

         19  they rain after 4:00. I bring my umbrella, five

         20  dozen umbrella. Five dozen umbrella, it's $10 each.

         21  Ten dollar each dozen, five dozen is 50 dollar. Then

         22  I go outside, I bring my five dozen umbrella to go,

         23  I cross 42nd and Times Square, I see two officer,

         24  they call, brother, come here. I come, they say what

         25  you got inside for your hand bag? They say you got a
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          2  license? I say, yes. Let me see your license. I give

          3  my license.

          4                 What you got inside for the bags?

          5                 I got this umbrella.

          6                 Where you going?

          7                 I going 42nd and Lexington Avenue.

          8                 Okay, I wait five minute. They go

          9  looking for next officer. Five minute I see, they

         10  give me ticket. After they give me ticket, I say,

         11  okay, why you give me ticket? You don't see I

         12  selling umbrella. You tell me where you going, I

         13  tell you I going to 42nd and Lexington Avenue,

         14  because the weather channel, they say after 4:00

         15  they make a rain shower. Why you give me ticket for

         16  that? He tell me, okay, you not happy for that? I

         17  say, yes, I am happy. I'm happy, if you see me, I

         18  selling umbrella, I am happy, now you don't see me,

         19  I'm selling umbrella; why you give me ticket for

         20  that? Just walking to go to 42nd and Lexington

         21  Avenue. And inside the ticket they cross $1,000

         22  fine.

         23                 MR. WILLIAMS: That's why you need

         24  interpreters. Explain that's why you need

         25  interpreters at ECB. They want to know. That's what
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          2  they're trying to help us do. So, explain it to

          3  them.

          4                 MR. MUSA: Okay. Inside the ticket

          5  they cross $1,000 fine. They tell you, you do not --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I'm sorry, I'll

          7  be honest with you, I'm not following the story

          8  here.

          9                 The gentleman next to you, can you

         10  explain?

         11                 MR. WILLIAMS: Good afternoon. My name

         12  is James Williams, a Board member at the Street

         13  Vendors Project. And I guess what Bi Musa was trying

         14  to explain was the issuance of tickets throughout

         15  the City. And part of the reason of being here,

         16  because we are also in support of your bill, and we

         17  appreciate you having us here.

         18                 There are several problems with

         19  tickets being issued, and I was pretty disturbed, I

         20  had the prepared speech, but I was pretty disturbed

         21  by the gentleman from the ECB, because they spoke

         22  about a range of fines. Now, the problem the vendors

         23  are having are, our range of fines, there's no set

         24  guidelines, and the judges just have an escalating

         25  system where your first fine is issued, it's not $25
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          2  like they said, it's $50, and your next fine is 100,

          3  and then it's an automatic 250, 500 and $1,000.

          4                 The problem with that is some of the

          5  tickets that are being written don't justify tickets

          6  escalating to $1,000.

          7                 We have vendors here, several

          8  vendors, and we are the smallest of small business,

          9  and some of these tickets that are issued are not

         10  justified, but the fines are, because they have an

         11  escalating system, and instead of the judges at the

         12  court being able to make a decision, this is a small

         13  offense. I'm just going to give you this minimum

         14  fine.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Are you saying

         16  you don't think they should have a second offense be

         17  more than a third, more than first, and third more

         18  than the second?

         19                 MR. WILLIAMS: Yes. If there are

         20  several violations, if there are several violations

         21  from one person, at some point, yes. But for an

         22  offense that's, first of all that's small --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Can you give me

         24  an example of something you don't think merits a

         25  fine?
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          2                 MR. WILLIAMS: Okay. Our vendors

          3  mostly have eight-feet tables, and sometimes, like

          4  the gentleman said before, someone had a piece of

          5  watermelon hanging over and they were issued a fine

          6  for that? Well, some of our vendors may leave their

          7  jacket hanging over here, or a box extends over that

          8  eight feet, you can be issued a ticket for that, and

          9  because of that ticket, say that's your first

         10  offense, that offense is $50. And say that you're

         11  working in the evening with a restricted area during

         12  the day, but not restricted in the evening, or not

         13  restricted on the weekends, and you're issued a

         14  ticket, these fines escalate, and those fines --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Well, then you

         16  shouldn't be fined at all.

         17                 MR. WILLIAMS: Exactly.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: If I understand

         19  what you're saying.

         20                 MR. WILLIAMS: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: But that's not an

         22  issue of having -- that's an issue of going in and

         23  saying, well, on the facts that doesn't merit a --

         24  that wasn't actually a violation.

         25                 MR. WILLIAMS: Right. Through your
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          2  legislation, I believe that the judges that ECB

          3  caught, they will be relieved because they're able

          4  to do their job now.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Mm-hmm.

          6                 MR. WILLIAMS: Do you understand?

          7  Because they don't have to go by the set penalties,

          8  the set system that's there now, as the gentleman

          9  from ECB court said today. I mean, they're relieved

         10  they can do their job and they will make their own

         11  decisions, and that's why we're in favor of this

         12  legislation.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you.

         14                 MR. WILLIAMS: Let Janis speak. Janis

         15  is going to go now.

         16                 MR. BASINSKI: Now if I may introduce

         17  Janis Collado, who is also a Board member.

         18                 MS. COLLADO: Good morning, Mr. Chair

         19  and Committee members.

         20                 My name is Janis Collado, and as a

         21  widow of a veteran, I have had a general vendor's

         22  license for four years.

         23                 I thank you for this opportunity to

         24  address the Council, and for proposing to amend and

         25  modify the Administrative Code, in an effort to
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          2  improve the small business environment in New York

          3  City, so that businesses can thrive.

          4                 But New York's general vendors, food

          5  vendors, and First Amendment vendors must first

          6  survive before we can thrive.

          7                 Surviving and thriving financially is

          8  the ultimate American dream. Surviving also means

          9  having the freedom to earn a living without fear,

         10  the fear of being confronted by police, from getting

         11  tickets from minor infractions, because the police

         12  are told to write tickets, especially for

         13  regulations that are difficult to understand,

         14  confusing, highly technical and very strict.

         15                 I was born and raised in New York,

         16  have a post graduate education, and have great

         17  difficulty understanding the rules and regulations.

         18  I cannot imagine --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Can you just give

         20  me an example? What are some things you think that

         21  people get violations for that they shouldn't?

         22                 MS. COLLADO: Sure. Many vendors

         23  receive tickets when there are street hazards or

         24  construction at their usual place of business, when

         25  they have to move their table closer to a building
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          2  by a few feet less than the law allows, so say 12

          3  feet and now there is construction in the way, they

          4  either have to find a whole new location or maybe

          5  there is just a foot, or a foot and a half

          6  difference on a given day.

          7                 So, ECB writes the tickets, the fines

          8  are imposed up to a thousand dollars. Many vendors

          9  receive tickets when their pricelist has blown away

         10  and it's therefore not displayed at the time, or a

         11  new copy made at the time that the police came by.

         12  That's also unfair. Many fruit vendors receive

         13  tickets when they receive a delivery and the cartons

         14  are on the ground and they're beginning to set up

         15  their fruit on their cart.

         16                 MR. WILLIAMS: Hot dogs, too.

         17                 MS. COLLADO: Okay, and James says hot

         18  dogs too. That's the same way a store receives

         19  deliveries and there is a grace period by which the

         20  cartons are left on the ground and then brought into

         21  a store.

         22                 So, those are just examples that we

         23  looked at. Sometimes there are unmarked new

         24  construction manhole-type covers painted on the

         25  ground, but it's not clear as to whether it's a real
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          2  manhole. It might be related to work being done on

          3  the ground, something painted in a neon color. Many

          4  vendors have received tickets for those violations

          5  but it's not quite clear.

          6                 So, those are just some of the

          7  examples.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Well, I feel like

          9  what you're describing are things where there is a

         10  factual issue. In other words, if somebody goes in,

         11  if the claim is this box is on the ground for five

         12  minutes as we're unloading, you're right, that

         13  shouldn't be a violation. And if an agent gives a

         14  violation, I don't know how you avoid that other

         15  than by saying we have to again go in and go to the

         16  hearing officer and resolve it.

         17                 MS. COLLADO: One area that is

         18  addressed in the proposed amendment is the wearing

         19  of the badges, and we're thankful that the Committee

         20  addressed that.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay, thank you.

         22                 MR. BASINSKI: Council Member, if I

         23  may touch on a few things that the vendors have

         24  said?

         25                 I think our point is, as was stated
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          2  before, in some circumstances, judges should be

          3  allowed to impose minimum fines as accordingly.

          4                 For example, we have vendors, the

          5  wearing the licenses is a very common violation that

          6  we see. Vendors go to the bathroom and put their

          7  license away. They go to pray. Many of them are

          8  Muslim, of course, they put their license in their

          9  pocket, they come back and either forget or don't

         10  immediately take it out of their pocket to hang it

         11  around their neck. That's a ticket, that's a

         12  thousand dollar violation if it's been your fifth

         13  offense.

         14                 The judges should be allowed to look

         15  at that and say, well, okay, maybe it's true that

         16  the vendor put his license in a pocket for a minute.

         17  This is not the kind of violation that merits a

         18  thousand dollar fine. I'm going to fine him or her

         19  lower.

         20                 We recently had a case where a vendor

         21  was found guilty of being 19 feet eight inches away

         22  from the door entrance, as opposed to 20 feet away

         23  from the door entrance. Was that a violation? Yes, I

         24  think it was a violation. Is that something, are

         25  those four inches something that we think is worth a
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          2  thousand dollar ticket? No.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Just so I

          4  understand it, you're saying that the escalation is

          5  kind of -- is not if it's your second violation of

          6  the same offense, it's of your second violation

          7  period, so you could have five different

          8  infractions, and the fifth one is treated the fifth

          9  violation.

         10                 MR. WILLIAMS: Yes, sir. It works over

         11  a two-year period.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay, I

         13  understand.

         14                 MR. WILLIAMS: Right. And, like, me

         15  personally, I have one violation in the last two

         16  years. I don't get that many tickets. I mean, I'm

         17  very careful, but still, my next ticket, although I

         18  haven't had a violation in two years, my next ticket

         19  could be $500, even no matter what --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Even if it's for

         21  a separate, even if one is not displaying the price

         22  list, the second is for not --

         23                 MR. WILLIAMS: Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Well, that's

         25  unfair, because the whole point of having a multiple
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          2   -- the reason you want to give somebody a stiffer

          3  penalty the second or third time is because it shows

          4  a willful disregard of the law, it shows that they

          5  haven't learned their lesson for the first time.

          6  That I think we should correct.

          7                 MR. BASINSKI: That would be a real

          8  help to vendors. And by the way, many of the other

          9  codes, I think the Building Code and perhaps the

         10  Fire Code does work that way, that you look at the

         11  specific violation, is it the second time you didn't

         12  wear your license.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: That's more

         14  standard.

         15                 Okay, thank you. I thank the panel

         16  very much. This has been very helpful.

         17                 MR. BASINSKI: If I may touch on

         18  something that I think is very important that hasn't

         19  been addressed really so far.

         20                 The interpretation provision is a

         21  very important part of the law we believe, and we

         22  believe the ECB misunderstood what we think the laws

         23  intended to do.

         24                 Right now it's true that vendors or

         25  other people can bring interpreters with them to
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          2  ECB. That's not what we're asking for. We're asking

          3  to have the ECB provide interpreters for litigants.

          4  The same thing that happens in Criminal Court and

          5  the same thing that happens in Civil Court.

          6                 Right now it's almost a humorous

          7  thing. They'll go out and before, last year when

          8  this came up, they had a whole argument about how

          9  that would cost too much money. We think that there

         10  are easy solutions. We've done a good bit of

         11  research with regard to a telephonic interpretation,

         12  there are services available. One of the

         13  representatives from one of those services is here

         14  today to talk about how that works at other

         15  administrative agencies around the State and around

         16  the country. Basically what you do is you call on

         17  the phone, and you say can I have somebody that

         18  speaks Swahili and immediately, just like happens

         19  now to 3-1-1 line, patched through to someone that

         20  interprets Swahili for you.

         21                 Right now vendors are sent home, or

         22  they do proceed as best they can with limited

         23  English, as we've heard here today, and what happens

         24  is that results in a miscarriage of justice. If you

         25  can't explain to the judge what happened, well, in
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          2  your own language, in your own words, you are going

          3  to be found in violation. And that happens all the

          4  time.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay, I

          6  understand. I think perhaps what we need to do is

          7  have an opportunity for people to notify in advance

          8  that they're going to need an interpreter, rather

          9  than have them available at all times, but have --

         10  in other words, if you're going to come into ECB,

         11  that you ought to be able to call in advance and

         12  tell ECB that you're going to need an interpreter

         13  when you get there.

         14                 MR. BASINSKI: That would be one

         15  solution.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Yes.

         17                 MR. BASINSKI: Another solution would

         18  be the telephonic interpreter systems that the 3-1-1

         19  has.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Well, I would

         21  like to work with you to craft a provision that

         22  would work, okay?

         23                 MR. BASINSKI: When I heard --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I'm sorry, just

         25  because we're --
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          2                 MR. BASINSKI: Thank you very much.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: We're running out

          4  of our time frame here. I appreciate you being here.

          5  Thank you very much.

          6                 MR. WILLIAMS: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I would now call,

          8  if they're here, and I hope that they are, Andrew

          9  Sydor, Frank Choy, and Piorkowska Krystyna, and if

         10  I've mispronounced your name, I apologize.

         11                 And if there is anybody else here

         12  whose name we haven't called, let's bring you up at

         13  this time, so we can proceed, and I thank you again

         14  very much for your patience. I know this hearing has

         15  been quite lengthy.

         16                 MR. SYDOR: So of those three, I'm it.

         17  Okay. All right. My name is Andy Sydor. I'm the

         18  elected representative of the estimated 240 guides

         19  at Gray Line New York Sightseeing, on behalf of

         20  Local 225 of the Transport Workers Union. I thank

         21  you for this opportunity to speak regarding revising

         22  the licensing code.

         23                 I have no objection to the proposed

         24  changes regarding the tour guide license. The

         25  paragraphs to be dropped were not being enforced
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          2  anyway, and are obviously left-over from past and

          3  discarded legal standards. But I question the

          4  relevance of these changes when the DCA does nothing

          5  to see that licenses are being used. Every day tours

          6  are conducted in this City by unlicensed guides, and

          7  the DCA seems to do nothing to stop it.

          8                 This wasn't always quite the case. In

          9  the past, DCA would do occasional sweeps during the

         10  year. These would only hit the most conspicuous

         11  targets, and there were always some companies that

         12  violate the law, but it was something, and it did

         13  cause some compliance.

         14                 In recent years, though, this minimal

         15  enforcement has deteriorated. This is due to the

         16  previous DCA director's public assertion that the

         17  City had no authority to ticket

         18  out-of-state-operators.

         19                 Although that director did finally

         20  admit that that assertion was an error, or as DCA

         21  has never done more than token enforcement and more

         22  and more companies have started using unlicensed

         23  guides. At this point even some local companies have

         24  gotten into the act.

         25                 Licensed guides have lost work as a
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          2  result as the license has become little more than a

          3  tax on the law abiding.

          4                 The guides of Gray Line collectively

          5  just spent over $12,000 getting our licenses

          6  renewed, in exchange for protection in amounts that

          7  only an occasional sweep of only GL guides, since

          8  we're easy to find, and having our licenses engender

          9  no paperwork for the DCA. The law must be enforced

         10  and those breaking the law taken to task, not those

         11  obeying it.

         12                 Furthermore, if the Council is truly

         13  concerned with protecting both professional

         14  standards in tourism and protecting local

         15  businessmen, there are more important issues than

         16  simply streamlining the licensing requirements.

         17                 First of all, we need to guarantee

         18  that tours will be given by live professionals and

         19  not machines.

         20                 The TWU has been trying for several

         21  years now to get the City Council to amend the law

         22  to require such a thing, even having had a public

         23  hearing on September 29th, 2004. We are still

         24  waiting for this common sense amendment. The

         25  Consumer Affairs Committee needs to enact this.
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          2                 We also need to look at the body of

          3  law governing the New York tourism industry, a set

          4  of laws largely unchanged since the 1930s when they

          5  were first enacted.

          6                 The use of double-decker buses, for

          7  instance, was unknown in New York tourism prior to

          8  1990. The law still has little consideration of

          9  them. They've only been used year-round in recent

         10  years, yet there is still no laws concerning their

         11  use in extreme weather.

         12                 The industry will not govern itself

         13  in this regard. Let's not wait for some horrible

         14  accident to occur before we legislate.

         15                 At the same time, we need to look at

         16  ways to enable our industry. Some of the traffic

         17  rules look written out of spite for tourists, rather

         18  than any idea of reasonable management.

         19                 We also seem to set up parking and

         20  drop-off spots, so as to avoid rather than support

         21  actual tourist spots.

         22                 Tourism is one of the largest

         23  industries in this City and needs to be taken more

         24  seriously by the most visited City in the world.

         25                 The last time tourism law was really
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          2  dealt with was in the 1930s in preparation for the

          3  World's Fair.

          4                 We don't have a World's Fair coming.

          5  Heck, we're not even getting the Olympics, but all

          6  indications that we're facing a record year for New

          7  York Tourism means we will receive over 40 million

          8  visitors to New York City this year. The time to

          9  straighten out our industry is now.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Well, thank you

         11  very much. Well, I know Carole Seidelman is here,

         12  from the Guides Association, why don't you come and

         13  join.

         14                 While you're doing that, do you

         15  believe that the Guides-- that the licensing serves

         16  a function?

         17                 MR. SYDOR: I certainly think it

         18  serves a function if it were enforced. You know, not

         19  being enforced undercuts its function. There should

         20  be licenses. They ensure that people visiting a

         21  City, they see the license, they are getting some

         22  level of professional standard. But if the DCA

         23  refuses to enforce the rules or even check -- I

         24  mean, we haven't had a token check in over two

         25  years, and the token check would send somebody down
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          2  to the Battery Park, which is a block from the TCA

          3  office, the Gray Line bus would come in, check about

          4  50 people and go home feeling like they had done

          5  something. And I mean, that was ridiculous. I mean,

          6  really, if you want to check our names, go to the

          7  main office and get everybody's name and actually

          8  see if they're on the list.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: That gets to my

         10  question. I mean, I guess one question is could

         11  licensing serve a function? The second is does it in

         12  practice? Because things that don't in practice

         13  accomplish anything, but do make people pay money

         14  and go through paperwork, you know, to me are

         15  useless. You know, I'd rather not go through a

         16  pointless exercise and admit that you're not doing

         17  anything, rather than say, well, in theory we might

         18  be accomplishing something, but we're not.

         19                 So, I guess --

         20                 MR. SYDOR: Well, the thing is to look

         21  at the past. At least when we had the token

         22  enforcement, I mean in the double-decker industry

         23  this City went through some very bad patches with

         24  some very now notorious, if they're still

         25  remembered, companies.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Right.

          3                 MR. SYDOR: One was the original

          4  double-decker company, and the other was the

          5  notorious New York Apple Tours, which in full

          6  disclosure I must admit was the company I started

          7  with. And I gave tours for about a month with that

          8  company without a license. Kept asking, because I'm

          9  a law-abiding guy, when do I get my license? And it

         10  wasn't until there was the occasional DCA sweep when

         11  they suddenly called, a dispatcher called me over

         12  and said, look, if anybody from the DCA gets on the

         13  bus, take your yellow shirt off and sit with the

         14  customers and pretend you're a tourist.

         15                 That was their way of dealing with it

         16  at the time.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Very funny.

         18                 MR. SYDOR: Yes. But it had the scare

         19  of them in it, and the thing is, they had come from

         20  being a company when they first started being

         21  practically 99 percent unlicensed guides, the guides

         22  that while they were still lax in getting them to

         23  get their licenses, most of the guides were licensed

         24  by that point.

         25                 Double-decker had been for a time,
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          2  frankly, an immigrant summer camp. They would bring

          3  in guys from Argentina every summer, and, you know,

          4  they gave tours of very questionable quality, but,

          5  again, when the DCA did crack down on them about

          6  that, it forced them to stop doing that.

          7                 So, you know, what I fear right now

          8  is that, especially when former Commissioner Dykstra

          9  made her former comments and all that, it encouraged

         10  the discarding of even the standards of let's keep a

         11  license there just in case.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: To get the

         13  license, what do you do exactly?

         14                 MR. SYDOR: Well, initially you have

         15  to take a test. There was a whole test revision that

         16  went through a few years ago, it's now 150

         17  questions, you have to get a passing score of 97.

         18  Questions on various aspects of, it actually covers

         19  the whole possibility of what you might be doing as

         20  a tour guide. There are rules on traffic, rules if

         21  you are walking, tour guide rules, if you're a

         22  double-decker tour guide, et cetera.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: So there's some

         24  value there?

         25                 MR. SYDOR: Yes. There's some value
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          2  there. Absolutely. I don't dispute that.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you.

          4                 Okay, no, I was just curious

          5  honestly.

          6                 Carole, Ms. Seidelman, why don't you

          7  please proceed.

          8                 MS. SEIDELMAN: Hi. I'm Carole

          9  Seidelman. I am Secretary of the Guides Association.

         10  I am speaking for Mr. Phippen, who had to leave, who

         11  wrote this. He's the President.

         12                 My name is Carole Seidelman, I'm

         13  Secretary of the Guides Association of New York

         14  City. I'm a licensed sightseeing guide, licensed by

         15  the Department of Consumer Affairs, as are all of

         16  our 200 plus members.

         17                 The Guides Association is not clear

         18  what the purpose of this hearing is. It seems to be

         19  to tell us what you are not doing. The City is not

         20  enforcing certain requirements of the licensing law,

         21  so you want to propose a bill to drop this clause,

         22  this clause of being a guide.

         23                 We support to some extent the

         24  simplification. Meanwhile, the purpose of licensing

         25  New York guides remains vague. While it is presented
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          2  to us that your work as a sightseeing guide, you

          3  need a DCA license, there seems to be no enforcement

          4  of this law.

          5                 Again this comes back to, let me add

          6  to what we were just saying, I'm not even sure we

          7  belong in small businesses.  In most cities in the

          8  world to become a licensed tour guide you need a

          9  rigorous course, and a certain amount of training

         10  and an exam that is much more stringent than hours.

         11  To even someone like me, I speak several languages,

         12  so I'm a multilingual guide as well.

         13                 We believe licensing sightseeing

         14  guides is good for the City. It's almost like a

         15  museum guide. It promotes an authentic and

         16  informative experience for visitors and a safer, and

         17  will not interfere with residents and tourists, and

         18  tourists alike. I'm sorry, I can't read this

         19  writing.

         20                 The Guides Association look forward

         21  to the next action of the City Council regarding

         22  licensing. Hopefully we will see a more positive

         23  side clarifying who is required to be licensed, who

         24  would be stopped for talking in front of a group,

         25  because not everybody who is talking in front of a
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          2  group, there are other people who work in tourism

          3  who may come from another City and this is probably

          4  some of the confusion, who are tour escorts and who

          5  are handling a group who may not have the City

          6  licensing. I mean, you don't want to go, you know,

          7  giving a million people fines when it's not

          8  necessarily something that is positive to New York

          9  tourism.

         10                 If the Council has the will and the

         11  leadership to address these problems, the Guides

         12  Association stands ready to offer any help in our

         13  enthusiastic support.

         14                 Thank you for letting us speak to

         15  you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Well, thank you

         17  very much. And I would like to follow-up on your

         18  suggestion. And I think that certainly the

         19  provisions that are proposed here do make sense and

         20  it sounds like you agree, but then I think what we

         21  also have to do is work to make sure there is some

         22  enforcement so what we've got makes -- you know, is

         23  useful. And you're not just paying your fee for no

         24  reason.

         25                 MR. SYDOR: And also there might be
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          2  other areas that are revised as well. We do have a

          3  copy of the bill we are trying to get through the

          4  Consumer Affairs Committee, which is simply an

          5  addendum to one phrase, there was always a rule that

          6  stated a vehicle of -- well, actually, I got it

          7  right here. A vehicle of seven passages or fewer,

          8  well, if you could handle more than seven

          9  passengers, the driver could not give the tour,

         10  there's a traffic safety rule, and that had been

         11  interpreted in the past to mean that it had to be a

         12  guide giving the tour.

         13                 Unfortunately, when Gray Line was

         14  investigating the possibility of replacing their

         15  guide staff with CD Roms, they asked the DCA, and

         16  the DCA said, okay, maybe you can have the machine

         17  give the tour, and this is something we feel should

         18  be avoided. And we just wanted to say, if you're

         19  selling a tour on a bus, there should be a

         20  professional guide.

         21                 It would not restrict them using

         22  multi-media equipment, at the public hearing some

         23  said you can see in the language that is not an

         24  issue. But, you know, that a professional be

         25  present.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: At the very least

          3  we should do what we tried to do on Broadway as

          4  well, is at least make sure consumers are aware. So,

          5  you know, if you have to disclose quite clearly that

          6  there's no live guide, and if people want to sign up

          7  for that, you know, they can get a recorded walking

          8  tour, fine. But I think at the very least we ought

          9  to do that.

         10                 Okay.

         11                 MS. SEIDELMAN: I have one quick

         12  comment.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Yes.

         14                 MS. SEIDELMAN: Also that I think it's

         15  important to know who is getting this license and

         16  not make it too simple. I mean, I think that we

         17  provide a good service. Dealing with groups, we have

         18  a lot of contact with the National Park Service out

         19  at the Statue of Liberty.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Yes.

         21                 MS. SEIDELMAN: So it's important that

         22  we can pass through and we have some authority.

         23  Whereas, you know, anybody can get a license. It

         24  diminishes the work we do.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Yes, I
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          2  understand.

          3                 Thank you. I thank you both very

          4  much. Thank you.

          5                 Then with that, the hearing is

          6  adjourned.

          7                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: May I?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay, we'll

          9  reopen and conclude the hearing with your testimony.

         10                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Thank you. You

         11  have the testimony of the retailers association, and

         12  I wanted to thank you for attempting to deal with

         13  the issue that had been raised previously, and is

         14  mentioned in your document about ECB as functioning

         15  both as jury and executioner.

         16                 The fact is that just like a small

         17  street vendor or retailer, a small property owner is

         18  effectively, when he comes to a hearing, intimidated

         19  into accepting that offer, accepting the deal of,

         20  oh, just plead guilty because we don't have our

         21  witness here.

         22                 And I think it's a very significant

         23  point that their witness is never present and we

         24  have to take our time to return and be present

         25  again.
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          2                 But discretion. Discretion is a very

          3  important part of this because a small property

          4  owner very often may not know how to phrase the

          5  terminology, that he has to in specific format

          6  phrase the language about how often he checks the

          7  sidewalk for litter or for garbage or between what

          8  hours he's done it. And that's something that an

          9  attorney knows but a small property owner doesn't

         10  know, and the discretion of the judge who is hearing

         11  this will help him.

         12                 As an example of the current

         13  dimentedness (sic) of how Sanitation issues

         14  violations, are the fact that Sanitation Enforcement

         15  Agents are issuing violations, for example, for

         16  using blue recycling bags instead of white recycling

         17  bags, clear reycling bags. And although that's a

         18  fact, that the law was changed and that we're

         19  supposed to be using clear recycling bags, there

         20  were owners who stockpiled blue recycling bags

         21  previously, or may have inadvertently left the box

         22  of blue recycling bags on the side.

         23                 There is no reasonable, rational

         24  reason why they should need to pay a ticket for blue

         25  recycling bags.
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          2                 So, let's say the Sanitation agent is

          3  within his rights to issue that sort of a ticket,

          4  did we serve any good purpose enforcing an owner to

          5  pay that kind of a penalty at $100?

          6                 Another example: Recycling garbage on

          7  certain blocks is picked up between 6:30 or 6:00

          8  a.m. and 10:00 a.m. in the morning. When that

          9  garbage is put out the night before, street people

         10  or others come through and they take things out of

         11  one set of bags and put it into another as they're

         12  looking through garbage cans. If tickets are issued

         13  at 7:00 in the morning, as they are by Sanitation

         14  Enforcement Agents, and a judge does not have any

         15  discretion in the matter, then certainly the owner

         16  cannot claim innocence because he will admit, let's

         17  say, that there were these other matters in there,

         18  but good judgment would say, well, it's 7:00 in the

         19  morning, is the super necessarily on duty? I mean,

         20  maybe they could have left the recycling there and

         21  come back and said with a note you've got to sort

         22  this out.

         23                 But no good purpose is served in

         24  that. And so the question of discretion is very

         25  important and still should be left on the plate.
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          2                 I want to thank you for your time.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I thank you very

          4  much. And I thank you for your participation. And

          5  with that, the hearing is adjourned. Thank you.

          6                 (Written testimony read into the

          7  record.)

          8

          9

         10  Written Testimony Of:

         11  John H. Banks

         12  Vice President, Government Relations

         13  Cond Edison

         14

         15

         16  Statement in Support of Int. No. 64-A and Int. No.

         17  66-A

         18

         19                 As one of the many companies that

         20  have matters before the Environmental Control Board,

         21  Con Edison strongly endorses the provisions of the

         22  legislation establishing a permanent staff of

         23  administrative law judges.

         24                 Int. No. 66-A requires the

         25  Environmental Control Board to appoint a chief
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          2  administrative law judge who will be an attorney in

          3  good standing admitted to the practice of law for at

          4  least ten years. The chief judge will be responsible

          5  to create a staff of administrative law judges who

          6  are attorneys in good standing admitted to the

          7  practice of law for at least five years.

          8                 A dedicated staff would develop an

          9  expertise needed in this forum to handle these cases

         10  effectively. In addition, the provisions of the

         11  legislation that provide written notification of

         12  allegations, discovery, adjournments and

         13  interpreters enhance the rights of all parties in

         14  the hearing process.

         15                 Con Edison supports the Small

         16  Business Committee and the City Council's efforts in

         17  ensuring that the Environmental Control Board

         18  decisions are reached in a fair and equitable

         19  manner.

         20                 (Hearing concluded at 1:20 p.m.)
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          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter, do hereby certify that the

         11  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         12  within proceeding.

         13                 I further certify that I am not

         14  related to any of the parties to this action by

         15  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         16  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         17                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         18  set my hand this 11th day of May 2006.
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          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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